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PART I
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. We use words such as “believes”, “intends”, “expects”,
“anticipates”, “plans”, “may”, “will” and similar expressions to identify forward-looking statements. Discussions containing forward-looking
statements may be found in the material set forth under “Business,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and in other sections of the report. All forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, projections or
estimates concerning our business, including demand for our products and services, mix of revenue streams, ability to control and/or reduce
operating expenses, anticipated gross margins and operating results, cost savings, product development efforts, general outlook of our
business and industry, future profits or losses, international businesses, competitive position, stock compensation and adequate liquidity to
fund our operations and meet our other cash requirements, are inherently uncertain as they are based on our expectations and assumptions
concerning future events. These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties. You should
not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forwardlooking statements for many reasons, including our ability to regain profitability in future quarters, our ability to expand our network of
distribution partners, the success of our online advertising business, and all other risks described below in the section entitled “Risk Factors”
and elsewhere in this report. All forward-looking statements in this document are made as of the date hereof, based on information available to
us as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statement.
All share and per share information provided in this Annual Report is presented giving effect to the one-for-five reverse stock split of our
common stock effected on October 26, 2005.
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

Overview
LookSmart is an online media and technology company specializing in vertical search. We provide relevant content, advertising and
technology solutions for consumers, advertisers and publishers. Our owned and operated vertical search sites are where consumers look for
what they need. Our sites and web tools offer search results with the ability to find, save and share resources from and links to websites and
online publishers. In addition to our owned and operated properties, LookSmart’s distribution network includes selected, monitored, syndicated
publishers and search engine partners who improve advertiser return on investment. We also offer a comprehensive and customizable set of
syndicated solutions for publishers to grow their advertiser relationships and audience.
During 2005 we unveiled 181 vertical search sites in 13 categories, delivering consumers relevant search results and advertisers a more
qualified customer. For each vertical category, we developed an array of niche sites. For example, our Health web sites include topics such as:
alternative medicines, pregnancy, sports medicine diseases, fitness and more. Content found through our vertical search sites is freely
accessible and from a wide variety of sources, including online publishers, print-based magazines, directories, specialized listings, and unique
references related to the subject areas.
Within each vertical site there are specific recommended searches. However, the sites help consumers see core results and then search or
browse for more. In addition, there are specific ways to save and share what consumers have searched for, using Furl.net (our proprietary
technology) functionality embedded in the site navigational elements.
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Products and Services
LookListings
Our LookListings products provide advertisers the opportunity to include listings ads for their company and product pages on relevant
search results and content pages, which are distributed across our network of distribution partners. We delivered over 306 million paid clicks,
or clicks to a customer’s web site for which we received payment in 2005.
Our LookListings application programming interface, or API, allows advertisers to tie their systems into our LookListings advertiser
portal, the AdCenter, so that they can easily and automatically manage a large number of listings and campaigns with us. We provide a timely
click tracking and advertiser reporting system so that advertisers are able to access their estimated spend information as quickly as one hour
after clicks occur. We also have a keyword pricing tool to enable our customers to have greater visibility into the keyword bidding process.
Our LookListings products include both keyword-targeted (smartmatch and broadmatch), contextually-targeted, and paid inclusion
listings. Keyword listings allow advertisers to select specific keywords, or search terms that are relevant to their specific web pages. Upon
selecting relevant keywords, advertisers can choose a maximum price they are willing to pay for clicks, thereby influencing the position of their
listings in the sponsored search results section of the web page. Placement of keyword and contextually-targeted listings within the sponsored
search results depends on the click-through-rate and the CPC, or cost-per-click, the advertiser is willing to pay for the listing’s campaign. For
keyword listings, where possible we discount advertisers’ bids to the greatest extent possible while still achieving the highest possible position
(given the bid amount) for their ads on our sites and our distribution network partners’ sites.
Paid inclusion listings provide relevant search traffic with the submission of only a URL, title, and description. These listings are
displayed in the main body of search results for searches of relevant terms on LookSmart.com and our distribution network partners’ sites. Each
click to a paid inclusion listing is billed at a simple, pre-set CPC. Paid inclusion listings are elevated into the sponsored search results section of
the search results page when space is available.
Large LookListings accounts are generally sold directly to advertisers by our sales force or indirectly by advertising agencies, search
engine marketing services or other third parties. Our large customers generally purchase thousands of listings and pay fees on a monthly perclick basis. Smaller LookListings accounts are primarily sold through an automated online interface on our web site and involve the payment of
fees on a per-click basis. Smaller LookListings account holders may add search listings for multiple pages on their Web sites, including home
page, category-level and product-level pages.
Our former licensing agreement with Microsoft expired in the first quarter of 2004. Prior to that time, we received revenue from licensing
and customizing our directories based on Microsoft’s specifications and needs. We received no licensing revenues from Microsoft in 2005.
AdCenter for Publishers
In 2005, we launched our AdCenter for Publishers (“AdCenter”) product that offers a customizable set of content, services and
technology designed to augment publishers’ online audience and revenue-building efforts. We offer our AdCenter, search content, and Furl.net
products to our customers, leveraging our existing technology assets to create new revenue streams while allowing publishers the flexibility to
brand these products according to their needs.
FindArticles
Our FindArticles service allows consumers to search a large database of high-quality content from over millions of articles and thousands
of publications. This service is accessible to consumers from www.findarticles.com . With the launch of the vertical search sites, we have been
able to select appropriate resources by categories and deliver a more relevant search result.
2
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Furl.net
The Furl.net service is an online bookmarking service available at www.furl.net , on all LookSmart owned properties and now on third
party sites. It allows members to simply and securely save copies of any web page. Users can instantly find what they need by searching their
online personalized categories and archives from any computer. In addition, Furl users can publicly share links to bookmarked web pages and
help other users find those web pages. In 2005, we began offering Furl.net to other online publishers. It is offered under its own brand as well
as private-labeled to provide additional functionality and traffic to online publishers.
Affiliate Programs
We generate revenues through our participation in online affiliate programs, which are programs operated by affiliate network services or
online merchants in which we are paid a fee for a participating merchant’s acquisition of new customer orders. By participating in affiliate
programs, we generate revenues when consumers make a purchase from a participating merchant’s web site after clicking on the merchant’s
listing in our search results.
Net Nanny
Net Nanny is a software product for family-friendly web surfing. This software enables consumers to set web access parameters for
specific family members. Last year, we switched to an annual service contract for Net Nanny when downloaded online from
www.netnanny.com , so that customers can continue to receive updates throughout their contract. The services include Internet monitoring, web
site filtering, time limits and privacy controls. Updated site lists are included in the online service contract. The software is also available in
authorized retail channels, and purchasers may upgrade to online services as well.
Distribution Network
We actively pursue relationships with portals, Internet service providers, media companies, search services and other web sites in order to
maintain and increase the distribution of our online advertising. These relationships are key drivers of our growth because more distribution
generally results in more clicks and online advertising revenues. We develop custom search services for our distribution network partners, in
some cases providing full-web search and in other cases providing search results only for a commercial segment of searches. We derive the
majority of our traffic from our distribution network partners.
Technology
Our principal assets include our software and systems for crawling the web, storing and indexing web page information, updating the
index, handling search queries, serving search results, creating and updating our vertical search sites and integrating third party content and
features and functionality into such sites, and tracking, analyzing and reporting on customer campaigns. We rely on a combination of trade
secret, copyright and trademark laws and contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property and proprietary rights. Our trademarks
include LookListings ® , LookSmart ® , Net Nanny ® , WiseNut ® and Zeal ® . We also have patents pending on various aspects of our search and
ad delivery technologies.
AdCenter
We have developed a proprietary system, the AdCenter, to create, track, analyze, report and optimize customer’s advertising campaigns.
The AdCenter collects click data for each listing that we manage for our customers, filters out invalid clicks, and provides customer billing. In
addition, we provide each of our LookListings customers with a password-protected online account that enables them to track, analyze and
optimize their search marketing campaigns using online reports.
3
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Search Technology
Our commercial search technology includes software for providing high-volume search results, building and updating indexes, and
incorporating maximum CPC and click-through-rate in the placement of listings in search results, updated throughout the day.
Our WiseNut search technology includes software for crawling the web and updating our index of web pages and a proprietary algorithm
that searches the index and compiles relevant search results. Since our acquisition of WiseNut in 2002, we have increased the number of
documents in the index, increased the frequency of updates to the index, increased the flexibility and scalability of the technical architecture,
expanded the capacity of the system, reduced the cost of delivering search results, and improved the relevance of search results produced by the
algorithm.
We also developed new search technology using our Furl.net personal bookmarking service. If a Furl user archives a web page, our
servers automatically crawl that web page and include it in our updated web search index. Our unique ranking algorithm also makes use of
proprietary WiseNut and Furl data to improve the relevance of these web search results.
Crawling Technology
We discontinued the use and support of the Grub distributed crawling technology in 2005 in order to reallocate development and support
resources to other revenue-generating initiatives in search technology.
Competition
The online advertising industry is competitive and rapidly changing. The types of advertising services offered by our competitors include
paid placement listings, paid inclusion listings, locally-relevant listings, and contextual listings. In addition, we compete with traditional media
such as television, radio and print, as well as online advertisers and high-traffic web sites, for a share of our customers’ total advertising
expenditures. Our competitors have greater capital or technical resources, larger distribution networks or user bases, longer operating histories
and/or greater brand recognition than we have.
We compete on four main fronts: attracting and maintaining consumers to our sites, attracting and maintaining advertisers to purchase our
online advertising products, attracting and maintaining distribution network partners to join our network, and attracting and maintaining
publishers to utilize our technology. The bases on which we compete differ amongst the four fronts.
•

Attracting and maintaining consumers to our sites—We compete in this area on the basis of the relevance and usefulness of our
search results and the features, availability and ease of use of our products and services.

•

Attracting and maintaining advertisers to purchase our online advertising products—We compete principally on the price we charge
for our online advertising, which is primarily on a per-click basis, and the advertisers’ perception of the return on investment of our
online advertising compared to other advertising products. We also compete on the volume of clicks we can deliver to our
advertisers.

•

Attracting and maintaining distribution network partners to join our network—We compete primarily by the revenue we are able to
share with distribution network partners, which depends on the rate at which queries are matched by online advertising and on the
advertising yield generated.
Attracting and maintaining publishers to utilize our technology—We compete on the convenience of our services to our publishers,
including the ease of monitoring campaigns, the usability of the AdCenter, the ease of making changes to campaigns, the types of
performance data we provide our publishers, and the ability to help them develop more audience. Further, we compete on the ability
to private-label or co-brand results pages for publishers.

•
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Government Regulations
We are subject to a number of domestic state and federal laws that affect companies conducting business on the Internet. In addition,
because of the increasing popularity of the Internet and the growth of online services, laws relating to user privacy, freedom of expression,
content, advertising, information security and intellectual property rights are being debated and considered for adoption by many countries
throughout the world.
In the U.S., state and federal laws relating to the liability of providers of online services for activities of their consumers, and the liability
of providers of online advertisers ads and activities, are currently being tested by a number of claims, which include actions for defamation,
libel, invasion of privacy and other data protection claims, tort, unlawful activity, copyright or trademark infringement, or other theories based
on the nature and content of the materials searched and the ads posted or the content generated by consumers. Likewise, other federal laws
could have an impact on our business. For example, the Digital Millennium Copyright Act has provisions that limit, but do not eliminate, our
liability for listing or linking to third-party web sites that include materials that infringe copyrights or other rights, so long as we comply with
the statutory requirements of this act. The Children’s Online Protection Act and the Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act restrict the
distribution of materials considered harmful to children and impose additional restrictions on the ability of online services to collect
information from minors. In addition, the Protection of Children from Sexual Predators Act of 1998 requires online service providers to report
evidence of violations of federal child pornography laws under certain circumstances.
In addition, the application of existing laws regulating or requiring licenses for certain businesses of our advertisers, including, for
example, distribution of pharmaceuticals, adult content, online gambling, financial services, alcohol or firearms, can be unclear. Application of
these laws in an unanticipated manner could expose us to substantial liability and restrict our ability to deliver services to our consumers.
International Operations
Following the termination of the Microsoft contract in the first quarter of 2004, we concluded that our international businesses were no
longer strategically or financially viable. As a result, we closed our foreign offices and sold the remaining assets of these businesses in the first
half of 2004. We are still in the process of finalizing certain transactions relating to these operations.
Marketing
We provide relevant content, advertising and technology solutions to consumers, advertisers and publishers. Marketing activities are
designed to support and grow our business, targeting:
•
•
•

Advertisers—In addition to proprietary vertical search properties, we deliver online ads to a reliable network of syndicated
publishers and search engine partners.
Consumers—Our 181 vertical search sites are where consumers look for what they need, coupling search results with the ability to
save content and share links using Furl technology.
Publishers—We offer a suite of customizable tools and solutions that help publishers to increase their audience, generate revenue
from site traffic and control advertiser relationships.

We use traditional and non-traditional means and media types to grow the business. We seek to retain customers through a mix of
informative marketing communication, helpful account tools, continual customer support and an optimal user experience.
Employees
Our future success is substantially dependent on the performance of our senior management and key technical and sales personnel, and
our continuing ability to attract and retain highly qualified technical and managerial personnel. As of December 31, 2005, we had 127
employees.
See Item 1A. “Risk Factors” for a further discussion on some of the risks we face related to our employees.
5
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Available Information
Our web site, www.looksmart.com , provides access, without charge, to our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
Materials we file with the SEC may be read and copied at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, D.C.
20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also
maintains a web site at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding our company that
we file electronically with the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
You should carefully consider the risks described below before making an investment decision regarding our common stock. If any of the
following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be harmed. In that case, the trading price of our
common stock could decline and our investors could lose all or part of their investment. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we
currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations.
Risks Related to our Business
Our financial results are highly concentrated in the online advertising business; if we are unable to grow online advertising revenues
and find alternative sources of revenue, our financial results will suffer
The display of listings advertisements accounted for substantially all of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005. Our success
depends upon advertisers choosing to use, and distribution network partners choosing to distribute, our listings products. Advertisers and
distribution network partners may not adopt our listings products at projected rates, or changes in market conditions may adversely affect the
use or distribution of listings advertisements. Because of our revenue concentration in the online advertising business, such shortfalls or
changes could have a negative impact on our financial results. Also, many of our products are offered to website publishers who use them to
display or generate revenue from their online advertisements. If we are unable to generate significant revenue from our online advertising
business, or if market conditions adversely affect the use or distribution of online advertisements generally, our results of operations, financial
condition and/or liquidity will suffer.
We rely primarily on our network of distribution network partners to generate paid clicks; if we are unable to maintain or expand this
network, our ability to generate revenues may be seriously harmed
The success of our online advertisement products depends in large part on the size and quality of our distribution network. We may be
unable to maintain or add distribution network partners of satisfactory quality in our distribution network at reasonable revenue-sharing rates,
or at all. Our distribution network is concentrated, with our three and four largest distribution network partners accounting for approximately
46% and 52% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. If we lose any significant portion of our
distribution network, we would need to find alternative sources of quality click traffic to replace the lost paid clicks. In the past, we have lost
portions of our distribution network, such as when our contract with Microsoft’s MSN expired in the first quarter of 2004. Although alternate
sources of click traffic are currently available in the market, they may not be available at reasonable prices, they will likely be subject to
competition from various paid search providers, and they may be of lower quality. There is fierce competition among search providers to sign
agreements with traffic providers. We may be unable to negotiate and sign agreements with quality traffic providers on favorable terms, if at
all. If we are unsuccessful in maintaining and expanding our distribution network, then our ability to generate revenues may be seriously
harmed.
We have generated significant losses in the past and we may be unable to achieve operating profitability in the foreseeable future, and
if we achieve profitability, we may be unable to maintain it, which could result in a decline in our stock price
We had a net loss of $17.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2005 and as of December 31, 2005 our accumulated deficit was
$203.8 million. We may be unable to achieve profitability in the foreseeable future and, if we regain profitability, we may be unable to
maintain it. Our ability to achieve and maintain profitability will depend on our ability to generate additional revenues and contain our
expenses. In order to generate additional revenues, we will need to expand our network of distribution network partners, expand our proprietary
traffic sources such as our owned-and-operated websites, offer our publisher products to publisher customers and expand our advertiser base.
We may be unable to accomplish some or any of these goals because of the risks
7
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identified in this report or for unforeseen reasons. Also, we may be unable to contain our costs due to the need to make revenue sharing
payments to our distribution network partners, to invest in product development, marketing and search technologies (exemplified by our
renewed focus on our vertical search business), and enhance our search services. Because of the foregoing factors, and others outlined in this
report, we may be unable to achieve profitability in the future, which could result in a decline in our stock price.
If we experience downward pressure on our revenue per click and/or match rate, or we are unable to rebuild our revenue per click
and/or match rate, our financial results will suffer
We have experienced, and may in the future experience, downward pressure on our average revenue per click and average match rate, or
rate at which paid listings are matched against search queries, due to various factors. In the year ended December 31, 2005, for example, our
average revenue per click and average match rate decreased compared to the year ended December 31, 2004. We may experience decreases in
revenue per click or average match rate in the future for many reasons, including the erosion of our advertiser base, the reduction in average
advertiser spend, the reduction in the number of listings purchased by advertisers, or for other reasons. If our revenue per click or average
match rate falls for any reason, or if we are unable to grow our revenue per click and average match rate, then we may be unable to achieve our
financial projections and our stock price would likely suffer.
Our growth depends on our ability to retain and grow our advertiser base; if our advertiser base and average advertiser spend falls,
our financial results will suffer
Our growth depends on our ability to build an advertiser base that corresponds with the characteristics of our distribution network. Our
distribution network, which currently consists of a diversified network of small distribution sources, may change as new distribution sources
are added and old distribution sources are removed. Advertisers may view these changes to the distribution network negatively, and existing or
potential advertisers may elect to purchase fewer or no listings advertisements for display on our distribution network. If this occurs, it is likely
that our average revenue per click and average match rate may decline, we may be unable to meet our financial guidance, and our stock price
would likely suffer.
Our growth depends upon our ability to retain and grow our audience for our vertical search sites, and there are risks associated with
introducing new products and services
To maintain and grow our revenue, part of our strategy is to increase the amount, frequency and page views by consumers of our vertical
search sites. Our development, testing and implementation efforts for these products and services have required, and are expected to continue to
require, substantial investments of our time. We recently began owning and operating our own websites, and we may not gain enough of an
audience for our vertical search sites to generate any, or sufficient, revenue to justify our efforts, or we may gain a sufficient audience but be
unable to gain advertiser acceptance of our vertical search sites. Also, if we do not improve and enhance our vertical search sites in a timely
manner, we may lose existing customers to our competitors or fail to attract new customers, which may adversely affect our performance and
results of operations.
If we are unable to license or acquire compelling content at reasonable costs, we may be unable to increase traffic to and revenue of
our vertical search sites
Our future success depends in part upon our ability to aggregate compelling content and search results and deliver them through our
online properties. We license much of the content on our online properties, such as journal articles and news items, from third parties. Our
ability to maintain and build relationships with third-party content providers will be important for our success. Also, as competition for
compelling content increases both domestically and internationally, our content providers may increase the prices at which they offer their
content to us and potential content providers may not offer their content on terms agreeable to us. An increase in the prices charged to us by
third-party content providers could harm our operating results and financial condition. If
8
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we are unable to license or acquire compelling content at reasonable prices, if other companies broadcast content that is similar to or the same
as that provided by us, the number of consumers of our services may not grow at all or may grow at a slower rate than anticipated, which could
harm our operating results.
Our growth depends upon our ability to offer and support our technology services to online publishers, and there are risks associated
with introducing new products and services
To maintain and grow our revenue, part of our strategy is to offer and host syndicated technology services to online publishers. Our
development, testing and implementation efforts for these products and services have required, and are expected to continue to require,
substantial investments of our time. Also, we do not have significant experience offering services to online publishers, and we may not gain
publisher acceptance of our offerings. We may be unable to successfully implement syndicated publisher solutions, or our implementation of a
solution may interfere with our ability to operate our other products and services or other implementations, or a publisher customer may decide
not to use or continue to use our solution. These failures could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
If we do not introduce new and upgraded products and services and successfully adapt to our rapidly changing industry, our financial
condition may suffer
The Internet search industry is rapidly evolving and very turbulent, and we will need to continue developing new and upgraded products
and services, adapt to new business environments and competition, and generate traffic to our consumer web properties in order to maintain
and grow revenue and reach our profitability goals. New search and advertising technologies could emerge that make our services
comparatively less useful or new business methods could otherwise emerge that divert web traffic away from our search network and consumer
web properties. Competition from other web businesses may prevent us from attracting substantial traffic to our services. Also, we may
inaccurately predict the direction of search technologies or the advertising market, which could lead us to make investments in technologies
and products that do not generate sufficient returns. We may face platform and resource constraints that prevent us from developing upgraded
products and services. We may fail to successfully identify new products or services, or fail to bring new products or services to market in a
timely and efficient manner. Rapid industry change makes it difficult for us to forecast our results accurately, particularly over longer periods.
We face the risk that we may be unable to adapt to new developments in the search industry, or that our new consumer products and services
may not be broadly adopted by customers, in which case we would eventually need to obtain additional financing or cease operations.
We face intense competitive pressures, which could materially and adversely affect our financial results
We compete in the relatively new and rapidly evolving paid search industry, which presents many uncertainties that could require us to
further refine our business model. We compete with companies that provide paid placement products, paid inclusion products, and other forms
of search marketing. We compete for advertisers on the basis of the relevance of our search results, the price per click charged to advertisers,
the volume of clicks that we can deliver to advertisers, tracking and reporting of campaign results, customer service and other factors. We also
compete for distribution network partners and for ad placement on those partners’ sites on the basis of the relevance of our search results and
the price per click charged to advertisers. We also experience competition for our owned-and-operated websites and for offering our technology
to website publishers. Some of our competitors have larger distribution networks and proprietary traffic bases, longer operating histories,
greater brand recognition, higher prices per click, better relevance and conversion rates, or better products and services than we have.
Our acquisition of businesses and technologies may be costly and time-consuming; acquisitions may also dilute our existing
stockholders
From time to time we evaluate corporate development opportunities, and when appropriate, we intend to make acquisitions of, or
significant investments in, complementary companies or technologies to increase our
9
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technological capabilities and expand our service offerings. Acquisitions may divert the attention of management from the day-to-day
operations of LookSmart. It may be difficult to retain key management and technical personnel of the acquired company during the transition
period following an acquisition. Acquisitions or other strategic transactions may also result in dilution to our existing stockholders if we issue
additional equity securities and may increase our debt. We may also be required to amortize significant amounts of intangible assets, record
impairment of goodwill in connection with future or past acquisitions, or divest non-performing assets at below-market prices, which would
adversely affect our operating results.
We have acquired businesses and technologies in recent years, including the acquisition of Net Nanny from BioNet Systems, LLC in the
second quarter of 2004, and from Furl, LLC in the third quarter of 2004. Integration of acquired companies and technologies into LookSmart is
likely to be expensive, time-consuming and a strain on our managerial resources. We may not be successful in integrating any acquired
businesses or technologies and these transactions may not achieve anticipated business benefits. We offer to end users certain software we
acquired, but we may lack the managerial and technical resources necessary to implement a successful software licensing business model in a
timely manner. Unlicensed copying and use of such software in the United States and abroad will represent a loss of revenue to us.
Our success depends on our ability to attract and retain key personnel; if we were unable to continue to attract and retain key
personnel in the future, our business could be materially and adversely impacted
Our success depends on our ability to identify, attract, retain and motivate highly skilled development, technical, sales, and management
personnel. We have a limited number of key development, technical, sales and management personnel performing critical company functions,
and the loss of the services of any of our key employees, particularly any of our executive team members or key technical personnel, could
adversely affect our business. In recent years, we have experienced significant turnover in our management team. For example, our Chief
Financial Officer joined us in November 2005. Other members of management have also joined us in the last year, and the management team
as a whole has had only a limited time to work together. We cannot assure you that we will be able to retain our key employees or that we can
identify attract and retain highly skilled personnel in the future.
We face capacity constraints on our software and infrastructure systems that may be costly and time-consuming to resolve
We use proprietary and licensed software to crawl the web and index web pages, create and edit listings, compile and distribute our
search results, track paid clicks, and detect click fraud. Any of these software systems may contain undetected errors, defects or bugs or may
fail to operate with other software applications. The following developments may strain our capacity and result in technical difficulties with our
web site or the web sites of our distribution network partners:
customization of our search results for distribution to particular distribution network partners,
•
•

substantial increases in the number of search queries to our database,

•

substantial increases in the number of listings in our search databases, or

•

the addition of new products or new features or changes to our products.

If we fail to address these issues in a timely manner, we may lose the confidence of advertisers and distribution network partners, our
revenues may decline and our business could suffer. In addition, as we expand our service offerings and enter into new business areas, we may
be required to significantly modify and expand our software and infrastructure systems. If we fail to accomplish these tasks in a timely manner,
our business will likely suffer.
10

Table of Contents
Risks Related to Operating in our Industry
If we fail to prevent, detect and remove invalid clicks, we could lose the confidence of our advertisers, thereby causing our business to
suffer
Invalid clicks, most often due to “click fraud”, are an ongoing problem for the Internet advertising industry, and we are exposed to the
risk of invalid clicks on our paid listings. Invalid clicks occur when a person or robotic software causes a click on a paid listing to occur for
some reason other than to view the underlying content. We invest significant time and resources in preventing, detecting and eliminating
invalid traffic from our distribution network. However, the perpetrators of click fraud have developed sophisticated methods to evade detection,
and we are unlikely to detect and remove all invalid traffic from our search network. We are subject to advertiser complaints and litigation
regarding invalid clicks, and we may be subject to advertiser complaints, claims, litigation or inquiries in the future. We have from time to time
credited invoices or refunded revenue to our customers due to suspicious traffic, and we expect to continue to do so in the future. If our systems
to detect invalid traffic are insufficient, or if we find new evidence of past invalid clicks, we may have to issue credits or refunds retroactively
to our advertisers, and we may still have to pay revenue share to our distribution network partners. This could negatively affect our profitability
and hurt our brand. If traffic consisting of invalid clicks is not detected and removed from our search network, the affected advertisers may
experience a reduced return on their investment in our online advertising because the invalid clicks will not lead to actual sales for the
advertisers. This could lead the advertisers to become dissatisfied with our products, which could lead to loss of advertisers and revenue and
could materially and adversely affect our financial results.
Any failure in the performance of our key operating systems could materially and adversely affect our revenues
Any system failure that interrupts our hosted products or services, including our search service, whether caused by computer viruses,
software failure, power interruptions, intruders and hackers, or other causes, could harm our financial results. For example, our system for
tracking and invoicing clicks is dependent upon a proprietary software platform. If we lose key personnel or experience a failure of software,
this system may fail. In such event, we may be unable to track paid clicks and invoice our customers, which would materially and adversely
affect our financial results and business reputation.
The occurrence of a natural disaster or unanticipated problems at our principal headquarters or at a third-party facility could cause
interruptions or delays in our business, loss of data or could render us unable to provide some services. Our California facilities exist on or near
known earthquake fault zones and a significant earthquake could cause an interruption in our services. We do not have back-up sites for our
main customer operations center, which is located at our San Francisco, California office. An interruption in our ability to serve search results,
track paid clicks, and provide customer support would materially and adversely affect our financial results.
Our business and operations depend on Internet service providers and third party technology providers, and any failure or system
downtime experienced by these companies could materially and adversely affect our revenues
Our consumers, distribution network partners and customers depend on Internet service providers, online service providers and other third
parties for access to our search results. These service providers have experienced significant outages in the past and could experience outages,
delays and other operating difficulties in the future. The occurrence of any or all of these events could adversely affect our reputation, brand
and business, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.
We have an agreement with Savvis Communications, Inc. to house equipment for web serving and networking and to provide network
connectivity services. We also have agreements with third-party click
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tracking and ad-serving technology providers. We also have an agreement with AboveNet Communications, Inc. to provide network
connectivity services. We do not presently maintain fully redundant click tracking, customer account and web serving systems at separate
locations. Accordingly, our operations depend on Savvis and AboveNet to protect the systems in their data centers from system failures,
earthquake, fire, power loss, water damage, telecommunications failure, hackers, vandalism and similar events. Neither Savvis nor AboveNet
guarantees that our Internet access will be uninterrupted, error-free or secure. We have developed a 30-day disaster recovery plan to respond in
the event of a catastrophic loss of our critical, revenue-generating systems. We have an agreement with Raging Wire, Inc. in Sacramento,
California to provide co-location and networking services for our critical systems in such an event. Although we maintain property insurance
and business interruption insurance, we cannot guarantee that our insurance will be adequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur as a
result of a catastrophic system failure. Also, if our third-party click tracking or ad-serving technology providers experience service
interruptions, errors or security breaches, our ability to track, realize and record revenue would suffer.
We may face liability for claims related to our products and services, and these claims may be costly to resolve
Companies in the Internet, technology and media industries own large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade secrets and
frequently enter into litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations of intellectual property rights. These claims might, for
example, be made for trademark, copyright or patent infringement, defamation, negligence, personal injury, breach of contract, unfair
advertising, unfair competition, invasion of privacy or other claims. As we face increasing competition and expand the number of websites that
we publish, the possibility of intellectual property rights claims against us grows, and we cannot guarantee that our services do not infringe the
intellectual property rights of others. Lawsuits are filed against us from time to time, and we are currently subject to two purported class action
lawsuits in connection with our listings services. In addition, we are obligated in some cases to indemnify our customers or distribution
network partners in the event that they are subject to claims that our services infringe on the rights of others.
Litigating these claims could consume significant amounts of time and money, divert management’s attention and resources, cause delays
in integrating acquired technology or releasing new products, or require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Royalty or licensing
agreements, if required, may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Our insurance may not adequately cover claims of this type, if at all.
If a court were to determine that some aspect of our search services or listings infringed upon or violated the rights of others, we could be
prevented from offering some or all of our services, which would negatively impact our revenues and business. For any of the foregoing
reasons, litigation involving our listings business and technology could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition.
We could be subject to infringement claims that may be costly to defend, result in the payment of settlements or damages or lead us to
change the way we conduct our business
Internet, technology, media companies and patent holding companies often possess a significant number of patents. Further, many of
these companies and other parties are actively developing search, indexing, electronic commerce and other Web-related technologies, as well
as a variety of online business models and methods. We believe that these parties will continue to take steps to protect these technologies,
including, but not limited to, seeking patent protection. As a result, we may face claims of infringement of patents and other intellectual
property rights held by others. Also, as we expand our business, license or acquire content and develop new technologies, products and
services, we may become increasingly subject to intellectual property infringement claims. In the event that there is a determination that we
have infringed third-party proprietary rights such as patents, copyrights, trademark rights, trade secret rights or other third party rights such as
publicity and privacy rights, we could incur substantial monetary liability, be required to enter into costly royalty or licensing agreements or be
prevented from using the rights, which could require us to change our business practices in the future and limit our ability to compete
effectively. We may also incur substantial expenses in defending against third-party infringement claims regardless of the merit of such
claims. In addition, many of our agreements with
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our customers or affiliates require us to indemnify them for certain third-party intellectual property infringement claims, which could increase
our costs in defending such claims and our damages. The occurrence of any of these results could harm our brand and negatively impact our
operating results.
Litigation, regulation, legislation or enforcement actions directed at or materially affecting us may adversely affect the commercial use
of our products and services and our financial results
New lawsuits, laws, regulations and enforcement actions applicable to the online industry may limit the delivery, appearance and content
of our advertising or websites or otherwise adversely affect our business. If such laws are enacted, or if existing laws are interpreted to restrict
the types and placements of advertisements we can carry, it could have a material and adverse effect on our financial results. For example, in
2002, the Federal Trade Commission, in response to a petition from a private organization, reviewed the way in which search engines disclose
paid placement or paid inclusion practices to Internet consumers and issued guidance on what disclosures are necessary to avoid misleading
consumers about the possible effects of paid placement or paid inclusion listings on the search results. In 2003, the United States Department of
Justice issued statements indicating its belief that displaying advertisements for online gambling might be construed as aiding and abetting an
illegal activity under federal law. In 2004, the United States Congress considered new laws regarding sale of pharmaceutical products over the
Internet and the use of adware to distribute advertisements on the Internet, any of which could, if enacted, adversely affect our business. If any
new law or government agency were to require changes in the labeling, delivery or content of our advertisements, or if we are subject to legal
proceedings regarding these issues, it may reduce the desirability of our services or the types of advertisements that we can run, and our
business could be materially and adversely harmed.
In addition, legislation or regulations, including compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 404”), present
ongoing compliance risks, and a failure to comply with these new laws and regulations could materially harm our business. For example, in the
course of our general evaluation of our internal controls and our 2005 close process, we identified four significant deficiencies in the design
and operation of our internal controls. We have addressed and are now in the process of remediating such deficiencies. It is possible that as we
continue our Section 404 compliance efforts we will identify significant deficiencies, or material weaknesses, in the design and operation of our
internal controls. We may be unable to remediate any of these matters in a timely fashion, and/or our independent registered public accounting
firm may not agree with our remediation efforts in connection with their Section 404 attestation. Such failures could impact our ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information, and could impact market perception of the quality of our financial reporting,
which could adversely affect our business and our stock price.
Privacy-related regulation of the Internet could limit the ways we currently collect and use personal information, which could decrease
our advertising revenues or increase our costs
Internet user privacy has become an issue both in the United States and abroad. The United States Congress is considering new legislation
to regulate Internet privacy, and the Federal Trade Commission and government agencies in some states and countries have investigated some
Internet companies, and lawsuits have been filed against some Internet companies, regarding their handling or use of personal information. Any
laws imposed to protect the privacy of Internet consumers may affect the way in which we collect and use personal information. We could
incur additional expenses if new laws or court judgments, in the United States or abroad, regarding the use of personal information are
introduced or if any agency chooses to investigate our privacy practices.
Our search engine places information, known as cookies, on a user’s hard drive, generally without the user’s knowledge or consent. This
technology enables web site operators to target specific consumers with a particular advertisement, to limit the number of times a user is shown
a particular advertisement, and to track certain behavioral data. Although some Internet browsers allow consumers to modify their browser
settings to remove cookies at any time or to prevent cookies from being stored on their hard drives, many consumers are not aware
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of this option or are not knowledgeable enough to use this option. Some privacy advocates and governmental bodies have suggested limiting or
eliminating the use of cookies. If this technology is reduced or limited, the Internet may become less attractive to advertisers and sponsors,
which could result in a decline in our revenues.
We and some of our distribution network partners or advertisers retain information about our consumers. If others were able to penetrate
the network security of these user databases and access or misappropriate this information, we and our distribution network partners or
advertisers could be subject to liability. These claims may result in litigation, our involvement in which, regardless of the outcome, could
require us to expend significant time and financial resources.
Online commerce security risks, including security breaches, identity theft, service disrupting attacks and viruses, could harm our
reputation and the conduct of our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results
A fundamental requirement for online commerce and communications is the secure storage, and transmission over public networks of
confidential information. Although we have developed and use systems and processes that are designed to protect consumer information and
prevent fraudulent credit card transactions and other security breaches, our security measures may not prevent security breaches or identity
theft that could harm our reputation and business. Currently, a significant number of our consumers provide credit card and other financial
information and authorize us to bill their credit card accounts directly for all transaction fees charged by us. We rely on encryption and
authentication technology to provide the security and authentication to effect secure transmission of confidential information, including
customer credit card numbers. Advances in computer capabilities, new discoveries in the field of cryptography or other developments may
result in a compromise or breach of the technology used by us to protect transaction data. In addition, any party who is able to illicitly obtain a
user’s password could access the user’s transaction data. An increasing number of websites have reported breaches of their security. Any
compromise of our security could damage our reputation and expose us to a risk of litigation and possible liability. The coverage limits of our
insurance policies may not be adequate to reimburse us for losses caused by security breaches.
Additionally, our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins, and similar disruptions, and we have
experienced “denial-of-service” type attacks on our system that have made all or portions of our websites unavailable for periods of time . We
may need to expend significant resources to protect against security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches. Disruptions in our
services and damage caused by viruses and other attacks could cause a loss of user confidence in our systems and services, which could lead to
reduced usage of our products and services and materially adversely affect our business and financial results.
New tax treatment of companies engaged in Internet commerce may adversely affect the commercial use of our search service and our
financial results
Tax authorities at the international, federal, state and local levels are currently reviewing the appropriate tax treatment of companies
engaged in Internet commerce. New or revised state tax regulations may subject us or our advertisers to additional state sales, income and other
taxes. We cannot predict the effect of current attempts to impose sales, income or other taxes on commerce over the Internet. New or revised
taxes and, in particular, sales taxes, would likely increase the cost of doing business online and decrease the attractiveness of advertising and
selling goods and services over the Internet. Any of these events could have an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Risks Related to Accounting Matters
Accounting for employee stock options using the fair value method could significantly reduce our net income
As described in Note 1 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this report, we are
required to adopt Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R,
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Share-Based Payment (“SFAS 123R”) starting January 1, 2006. We will be required to begin accounting for the fair value of stock options
granted to employees as compensation expense. The adoption of SFAS 123R will likely have a significant adverse impact on our results of
operations and net loss per share. In addition, if we reduce or alter our use of stock-based compensation to minimize the recognition of these
expenses, our ability to recruit, motivate and retain employees may be impaired, which could put us at a competitive disadvantage in the
employee marketplace. In order to prevent any net decrease in their overall compensation packages, we might decide to make corresponding
increases in the cash compensation we pay to current and prospective new employees. An increase in employee wages and salaries would
diminish our cash available for marketing, product development and other uses and might cause our GAAP profits to decline. Any of these
effects might cause the market price of our stock to decline, particularly if investors conclude that any resulting decrease in reported profits in
2006 was caused by operational problems rather than by accounting rule changes.
Risks Related to the Capital Market
Our quarterly revenues and operating results may fluctuate for many reasons, each of which may negatively affect our stock price
Our revenues and operating results will likely fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter as a result of a variety of factors, including:
changes in our distribution network, particularly the gain or loss of key distribution network partners, or changes in the
•
implementation of search results on partner web sites,
changes in the number of advertisers who purchase our listings, or the amount of spending per customer,
•
•

changes in the amount, frequency and page views by consumers of our vertical search sites,

•

the revenue-per-click we receive from advertisers, or other factors that affect the demand for, and prevailing prices of, Internet
advertising and marketing services,

•

the effect of accounting for our headquarters office lease in San Francisco, which reflects our management’s assumptions about the
subleasing market,
systems downtime on our AdCenter, our web site or the web sites of our distribution network partners, or

•
•

the effect of SFAS 123R, which becomes effective January 1, 2006, and requires that we begin accounting for the fair value of
stock options granted to employees as compensation

Due to the above factors, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our financial results are not necessarily meaningful, and you
should not rely on past financial results as an indicator of our future performance. If our financial results in any future period fall below the
expectations of securities analysts and investors, the market price of our securities would likely decline.
Our stock price is extremely volatile, and such volatility may hinder investors’ ability to resell their shares for a profit
The stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations in recent years, and the stock prices of Internet companies
have been extremely volatile. The low trading volume of our common stock may adversely affect its liquidity and reduce the number of market
makers and/or large investors willing to trade in our common stock, making wider fluctuations in the quoted price of our common stock more
likely to occur. Also, because of our limited operating history and the significant changes we experienced as a result of the expiration of our
contractual relationship with Microsoft’s MSN in the first quarter of 2004, it is extremely
15

Table of Contents
difficult to evaluate our business and prospects. You should evaluate our business in light of the risks, uncertainties, expenses, delays and
difficulties associated with managing and growing a relatively new business, many of which are beyond our control.
Our stock price may fluctuate, and you may not be able to sell your shares for a profit, as a result of a number of factors including:
•

changes in the market valuations of Internet companies in general and comparable companies in particular,

•

quarterly fluctuations in our operating results,

•

the termination or expiration of our distribution agreements,

•

our potential failure to meet our forecasts or analyst expectations on a quarterly basis,

•

the relatively thinly traded volume of our publicly traded shares, which means that small changes in the volume of trades may have
a disproportionate impact on our stock price,
the loss of key personnel, or our inability to recruit experienced personnel to fill key positions,

•
•
•

changes in ratings or financial estimates by analysts or the inclusion/removal of our stock from certain stock market indices used to
drive investment choices,
announcements of new distribution network partnerships, technological innovations, acquisitions or products or services by us or
our competitors,

•

the sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market by our stockholders, or the perception that such sales
could occur,

•

the exchange by Chess Depositary Interest (CDI) holders of CDIs for shares of common stock at a ratio of 1:1, and resale of such
shares in the Nasdaq National Market (as of March 9, 2006, the CDIs registered for trading on the Australian Stock Exchange were
exchangeable into an aggregate of approximately 1.8 million shares of common stock), or

•

conditions or trends in the Internet that suggest a decline in rates of growth of advertising-based Internet companies.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted after periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s
securities. A securities class action suit against us could result in substantial costs and the diversion of management’s attention and resources,
regardless of the merits or outcome of the case.
We may need additional capital in the future to support our operations and, if such additional financing is not available to us, on
reasonable terms or at all, our liquidity and results of operations will be materially and adversely impacted
Although we believe that our working capital will provide adequate liquidity to fund our operations and meet our other cash requirements
for the foreseeable future, unanticipated developments in the short term, such as the entry into agreements, which require large cash payments
or the acquisition of businesses with negative cash flows, may necessitate additional financing. We may seek to raise additional capital through
public or private debt or equity financings in order to:
•

fund the additional operations and capital expenditures,

•

take advantage of favorable business opportunities, including geographic expansion or acquisitions of complementary businesses or
technologies,

•

develop and upgrade our technology infrastructure beyond current plans,

•

develop new product and service offerings,
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•

take advantage of favorable conditions in capital markets, or

•

respond to competitive pressures.

The capital markets, and in particular the public equity market for Internet companies, have historically been volatile. It is difficult to
predict when, if at all, it will be possible for Internet companies to raise capital through these markets. We cannot assure you that the additional
financing will be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. If we issue additional equity or convertible debt securities, our existing
stockholders may experience substantial dilution.
Provisions of Delaware corporate law and provisions of our charter and bylaws may discourage a takeover attempt
Our charter and bylaws and provisions of Delaware law may deter or prevent a takeover attempt, including an attempt that might result in
a premium over the market price for our common stock. Our board of directors has the authority to issue shares of preferred stock and to
determine the price, rights, preferences and restrictions, including voting rights, of those shares without any further vote or action by the
stockholders. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing desirable flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate
purposes, could have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our outstanding voting stock. In addition,
our charter and bylaws provide for a classified board of directors. These provisions, along with Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, prohibiting certain business combinations with an interested stockholder, could discourage potential acquisition proposals
and could delay or prevent a change of control.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Our headquarters are located in approximately 135,000 square feet of leased office space in San Francisco, California. The lease term for
this office space extends to October 15, 2009. The lease provides us with an option to renew for two additional five-year periods after the initial
term expires. We currently have two subtenants at our primary headquarters facility in San Francisco. We have subleased approximately 24,250
square feet of space through October 2009 at a rate less than our obligation under the original lease. We also subleased approximately 8,500
square feet of space through December 2006 at a rate less than our obligation under the original lease.
In 2004, we also leased office space in London, Los Angeles, Melbourne, Montreal, New York, Sydney and Tokyo. All of these office
leases have expired and these branches were closed in 2004, except for our Los Angeles office lease, which terminated in 2005. There is
therefore no on-going cash requirement for these facilities.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Cisneros v. Yahoo! Inc
On August 3, 2004, Mario Cisneros and Michael Voight filed a private attorney general lawsuit on behalf of a proposed class in Superior
Court in San Francisco County, California. The complaint names thirteen search engines or Web publishers as defendants, including us, and
alleges unfair business practices, unlawful business practices, and other causes of action in connection with the display of advertisements from
Internet gambling companies. The complaint seeks restitution, unspecified compensatory damages, declaratory and injunctive relief, and
attorneys’ fees. Plaintiffs also filed a motion for preliminary injunction on August 3, 2004.
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On January 3, 2005, we filed a demurrer to the complaint, which was overruled on January 27, 2005. On January 3, 2005, we also filed a
motion to strike certain allegations regarding claims for restitution, which was denied in part and granted in part on May 9, 2005. We filed an
answer to the complaint on February 28, 2005, consisting of a general denial of all allegations. On October 11, 2005, the court conducted a trail
on two of our affirmative defenses. The court held that California public policy bars the plaintiffs from receiving a portion of their requested
damages.
On December 2, 2005, plaintiffs filed a renewed motion for a preliminary injunction. Defendants’ response is due on February 27, 2006.
A case management conference is scheduled for March 16, 2006, at which time the court will set a hearing schedule for plaintiffs’ renewed
motion. The court has allowed certain discovery to proceed with respect to plaintiffs’ renewed motion.
Lane’s Gifts and Collectibles, L.L.C., v. Yahoo! Inc
On March 14, 2005 we were served with the Second Amended Complaint in a class action lawsuit in the Circuit Court of Miller County,
Arkansas. The complaint names eleven search engines and Web publishers as defendants, including us, and alleges breach of contract,
restitution/unjust enrichment/money had and received, and civil conspiracy claims in connection with contracts allegedly entered into with
plaintiffs for Internet pay-per-click advertising. The named plaintiffs on the Second Amended Complaint are Lane’s Gifts and Collectibles,
L.L.C., U.S. Citizens for Fair Credit Card Terms, Inc., Savings 4 Merchants, Inc., and Max Caulfield d/b/a Caulfield Investigations.
On March 30, 2005 the case was removed to United States District Court for the Western District of Arkansas. On April 4, 2005 plaintiffs
U.S. Citizens for Fair Credit Card Terms, Inc. and Savings 4 Merchants, Inc. filed a motion of voluntary dismissal without prejudice. The
motion was granted on April 7, 2005. Plaintiffs Lane’s Gifts and Collectibles, L.L.C. and Max Caulfield d/b/a Caulfield Investigations filed a
motion to remand the case to state court on April 13, 2005, which was granted in June 2005. In July 2005, defendants, including us, petitioned
the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals for an appeal of the remand order, and moved to stay the proceedings while the appeal is pending. The
petition was denied on September 8, 2005 and the case was remanded to the Circuit Court of Miller County, Arkansas. We were served with
discovery requests on October 7, 2005. We have filed and/or joined motions to dismiss on the basis of failure to state a claim upon which relief
can be granted, lack of personal jurisdiction, and improper venue. Pursuant to the court’s initial scheduling order, plaintiffs had until
January 27, 2006 to respond to the motions to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction and improper venue; and until June 9, 2006 to respond to
the motion to dismiss on the basis of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. However, the court entered an order staying all
proceedings for a period of 60 days on January 9, 2006. On March 8, 2006, the court entered an order extending the stay until March 31, 2006.
We are also involved from time to time in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities. Although the
results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not expect resolution of these matters to have a material adverse
impact on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position. However, an unfavorable resolution of a matter could,
depending on its amount and timing, materially affect our future results of operations, cash flows or financial position in a future period.
Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense costs, diversion of management resources and other
factors.
Additionally, pursuant to Section 17.06A(e) of the Internal Revenue Code we note that we have not been required to pay a penalty to the
Internal Revenue Service for failing to make disclosures required with respect to certain transactions that have been identified by the IRS as
abusive or that have a significant tax avoidance purpose.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
On October 26, 2005, we held a special stockholders meeting. At the meeting, a quorum of our stockholders considered a proposal to
approve a series of amendments to our Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect a
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reverse stock split of our common stock whereby, at the discretion of our board of directors, each outstanding three, five or seven shares of our
common stock would be combined into and become one share of our common stock. The following votes were cast by stockholders:
•

91,673,805 votes FOR the proposal;

•

1,659,793 votes AGAINST the proposal;

•

and 276,246 votes ABSTAINED.

Following shareholder approval, the Board of Directors selected the split ratio to be 1-for-5
PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

LookSmart, Ltd. common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “LOOK”. Chess Depositary Interests, or
CDIs, which are freely exchangeable with shares of common stock at a ratio of 1:1, are quoted on the Australian Stock Exchange under the
symbol “LOK.” The following table sets forth the range of high and low sales prices of the common stock on the Nasdaq National Market for
each period indicated adjusted to reflect, for all periods shown, the effect of a one-for-five reverse stock split which became effective at the
close of business on October 26, 2005:
HIGH

LOW

First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

$11.15
$12.85
$10.55
$11.20

$7.60
$9.30
$6.80
$7.40

First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

$10.55
$ 4.75
$ 4.65
$ 4.50

$4.00
$3.05
$2.95
$3.40

First quarter (through March 9, 2006)

$ 4.99

$3.87

2004

2005

2006
LookSmart had approximately 133 holders of record of common stock as of March 9, 2006. We have not declared or paid any cash
dividends on the common stock and presently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of our business
and, therefore, do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Information about our outstanding stock options, weighted average exercise prices, and number of stock options available for future
grant, under both stockholder-approved stock plans and non-stockholder-approved stock plans is included in our proxy statement for the 2006
annual meeting of stockholders, and is hereby incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Uses of Proceeds from Registered Securities
We had no sales of unregistered securities in 2005.
In 2004, we sold and issued the following unregistered securities:
(1) On April 22, 2004, in connection with the acquisition of the Net Nanny business assets of BioNet, LLC, we issued to BioNet
LLC an aggregate of 394,477 shares of common stock.
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(2) On July 29, 2004, in connection with the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Furl, LLC, we issued to Furl, LLC an
aggregate of 107,209 shares of common stock.
In 2003, we sold and issued the following unregistered securities:
(1) On January 23, 2003, in connection with the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Grub, Inc., we issued an aggregate of
43,400 shares of common stock.
(2) On April 16, 2003, CIM Investments, Inc. exercised warrants to purchase 300,000 shares of common stock via a cashless
exercise, which resulted in the issuance of a net of 86,324 shares.
(3) On September 9, 2003, Microsoft Corporation exercised warrants to purchase 96,000 shares of common stock via a cashless
exercise, which resulted in the issuance of a net of 84,012 shares.
There were no underwriters employed in connection with any of the foregoing transactions. The issuances of securities described above
were deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and/or Regulation D,
hereunder, as transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. The recipients of securities in each such transaction acquired the
securities for investment only and not in connection with any distribution thereof and appropriate legends were affixed to the share certificates
and other instruments issued in such transactions. All recipients either received adequate information about the Registrant or had access,
through employment or other relationships, to such information.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere in this report.
Year Ended December 31,
2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue
Gross profit
Income (loss) from continuing operations*
Net income (loss)*
Net income (loss) per share—Basic**
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share—Diluted**
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Net income (loss)

$ 41,359
13,738
(17,907)
(17,797)

$ 76,996
32,216
(11,043)
(9,638)

$134,832
64,611
7,307
5,786

$ 93,174
53,126
30,079
27,932

$ 81,242
61,699
(54,918)
(59,567)

$
$

(0.79)
(0.78)

$
$

(0.49)
(0.43)

$
$

0.35
0.28

$
$

1.55
1.44

$
$

(2.99)
(3.24)

$
$

(0.79)
(0.78)

$
$

(0.49)
(0.43)

$
$

0.34
0.27

$
$

1.46
1.35

$
$

(2.99)
(3.24)

December 31,

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short and long-term investments
Working capital
Total assets
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, net of current
portion
Total stockholders’ equity
*

*

2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

$ 51,307
45,029
83,008

$ 63,900
49,063
101,088

$ 69,934
59,270
126,092

$ 51,264
40,282
100,554

$ 47,840
34,679
86,102

184
$ 68,451

236
$ 86,100

283
$ 86,297

1,904
$ 67,902

35,777
$ 23,644

Income (loss) from continuing operations included a restructuring charge of the following amounts:
$1.0 million in 2005,
•
•

$4.2 million in 2004,

•

$4.0 million in 2003,

•

$15.8 million in 2001. For further information on our restructuring charges, refer to Note 13 (Restructuring Charges) in our
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income (loss) from continuing operations included our share of joint venture losses of the following amounts:
$0.1 million in 2004,
•
•

$0.6 million in 2003,

•

$3.7 million in 2002,

•

$9.6 million in 2001.

*

In 2003, net income included an extraordinary gain from the purchase of joint venture entities of $0.2 million.

*
*

In 2002, income from continuing operations included a gain from the extinguishment of debt of $32.6 million.
In 2001, loss from continuing operations included amortization of goodwill of $4.6 million.

**

Per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted for the effects of the one-for-five reverse stock split.
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At a meeting of stockholders on October 26, 2005, our stockholders considered a proposal to approve a series of amendments to our
Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split of our common stock whereby, at the discretion of our Board of Directors,
each outstanding three, five or seven shares of our common stock would be combined into and become one share of our common stock.
Following shareholder approval, the Board of Directors selected the split ratio to be one-for-five. We filed a Certificate of Amendment to our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Delaware Secretary of State to effect the reverse stock split. The reverse stock split
became effective at the close of business on October 26, 2005.
In the first quarter of 2004, we signed agreements to sell certain of the assets and activities of our Australian, British and Japanese
subsidiaries. Accordingly, the selected consolidated financial data set forth above has been recast to remove the results of those international
operations from continuing operations for all periods presented. Results of the international operations are included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements, as presented in Item 8, herein, in the separate line item gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax, for all periods
presented. For further information, see Note 16 (Discontinued Operations) in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
ITEM 7.
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to those statements
that appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The following discussion contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. We use words such as “believes,” “intends,” “expects,”
“anticipates,” “plans,” “may,” “will” and similar expressions to identify forward-looking statements. Discussions containing forward-looking
statements may be found in the material set forth under “Business,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and in other sections of the report. All forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, projections or
estimates concerning our business, including demand for our products and services, mix of revenue streams, ability to control and/or reduce
operating expenses, anticipated gross margins and operating results, cost savings, product development efforts, general outlook of our
business and industry, future profits or losses, opportunities abroad, competitive position, stock compensation, and adequate liquidity to fund
our operations and meet our other cash requirements, are inherently uncertain as they are based on our expectations and assumptions
concerning future events. These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties. You should
not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forwardlooking statements for many reasons, including our ability to maintain net profitability in future quarters, our ability to expand and diversify
our network of distribution partners, the success of our online advertising business, and all other risks described above, in the section entitled
“Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report, and elsewhere in this report. All forward-looking statements in this document are made as of the date
hereof, based on information available to us as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statement.
All share and per share information provided in this Annual Report is presented giving effect to the one-for-five reverse stock split of our
common stock effected on October 26, 2005.
BUSINESS OVERVIEW
LookSmart is an online media and technology company specializing in vertical search. We provide relevant content, advertising and
technology solutions for consumers, advertisers and publishers. Our owned and operated vertical search sites are where consumers look for
what they need. Our sites and web tools offer search results with the ability to find, save and share resources from and links to websites and
online publishers. In addition to
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owned and operated properties, LookSmart’s distribution network includes selected, monitored, syndicated publishers and search engine
partners who improve advertiser return on investment. We also offer a comprehensive and customizable set of syndicated solutions for
publishers to grow their advertiser relationships and audience.
During 2005 we unveiled 181 vertical search sites in 13 categories, delivering consumers relevant search results and advertisers a more
qualified customer. For each vertical category, we developed an array of niche sites. For example, our Health web sites include topics such as:
alternative medicines, pregnancy, sports medicine diseases, fitness and more. Content found through our vertical search sites are freely
accessible and from a wide variety of sources, including online publishers, print-based magazines, directories, specialized listings, and unique
references related to the subject areas.
Within each vertical site there are specific recommended searches. However, the sites help consumers see core results and then search or
browse for more. In addition, there are specific ways to save and share what consumers have searched for, using Furl.net (our proprietary
technology) functionality embedded in the site navigational elements.
At a meeting of our stockholders on October 26, 2005, our stockholders considered a proposal to approve a series of amendments to our
Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split of our common stock whereby, at the discretion of our Board of Directors,
each outstanding three, five or seven shares of our common stock would be combined into and become one share of our common stock.
Following shareholder approval, the Board of Directors selected the split ratio to be one-for-five. We filed a Certificate of Amendment to our
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Delaware Secretary of State to effect the reverse stock split. The reverse stock split
became effective at the close of business on October 26, 2005.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our financial condition and results of operations are based upon certain critical accounting policies, which include estimates,
assumptions, and judgments on the part of management. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented.
The following discussion highlights those policies and the underlying estimates and assumptions, which we consider critical to an
understanding of the financial information in this report.
Revenue Recognition
Online Advertising
In prior years online advertising revenue was captioned as listings revenue in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Our online
advertising revenue is primarily composed of per-click fees that we charge customers. Customers set the per-click fee charged for inclusiontargeted listings when their account is established. The per-click fee charged for keyword-targeted listings is calculated based on the results of
online bidding on keywords or page content, up to a maximum cost per keyword or page content set by the customer.
Revenues associated with online advertising products, including LookListings, FindArticles, our vertical search sites, and banner
advertisements are generally recognized once collectibility is established, delivery of services has occurred, all performance obligations have
been satisfied, and no refund obligations exist. We pay distribution network partners based on click-throughs on the advertiser’s online
advertising products that are displayed on the websites of these distribution network partners. These payments are called traffic acquisition
costs. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal Versus Net as an Agent
( “EITF 99-19”), the revenue derived from these arrangements that involve traffic supplied by distribution network partners is reported gross of
the payment to the distribution network partners. This revenue is reported gross due to the fact that we are the primary obligor to the advertisers
who are the customers of the advertising service.
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Affiliate revenue is included in online advertising revenue and is based on commissions received for participation in affiliate programs.
Affiliate programs are programs operated by affiliate network services or online merchants, in which merchants pay traffic providers on a costper-acquisition basis. By participating in affiliate programs, we generate revenues when Internet consumers make a purchase from a
participating merchant’s web site after clicking on the merchant’s listing in our search results. Revenues from affiliates are earned on a per-sale
basis or as a percentage of sales rather than a per-click basis. Revenue is recognized in the period in which a merchant finalizes a sale and
reports to us via our affiliate network.
We also enter into agreements to provide private-labeled versions of our products, including the AdCenter and Furl product. These
arrangements include multiple elements such as upfront fees, license fees, and revenue-share based on the publishers’ customer’s monthly
revenue. We recognize revenue in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements (“SAB 104”), and Financial Accounting Standards Board Emerging Issues Task Force No. 00-21,
Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables (“EITF 00-21”). We recognize upfront fees over the term of the arrangement or the expected
period of performance, license fees over the term of the license, and revenue-share portions over the period in which such revenue is earned. In
all cases, revenue is recognized only when the price is fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the service is
performed, and collectibility of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.
We also recognize revenue from the sale of our Net Nanny software product. Software revenue is recognized upon shipment, provided
pervasive evidence of arrangement exists, price is fixed and determinable, collection is determined to be probable and no significant obligations
remain on our part. Revenue from distributors is subject to agreements allowing certain rights of return. Accordingly, recognized revenue is
reduced by estimated future returns at the time the related revenue is recorded. The estimates for returns are adjusted periodically based upon
historical rates of returns, inventory levels in the distribution channel and other related factors. We record royalties when distribution network
partners ship products incorporating our software, provided collection of such revenue is deemed probable. We provide a provision against
revenue for estimated reductions resulting from billing adjustments and product returns. The amounts of these provisions are evaluated
periodically based upon customer experience and historical trends. Revenue for products sold on a subscription basis is recognized ratably over
the subscription period.
We provide a provision against revenue for estimated reductions resulting from billing adjustments and product returns. The amounts of
these provisions are evaluated periodically based upon customer experience and historical trends.
Deferred revenue is recorded when payments are received in advance of performance in underlying agreements. Customer deposits are
recorded when customers make prepayments for online advertising.
Included in total revenue is revenue from the sale of advertising on our vertical search products. This revenue was less than 10% of total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005.
Licensing
Revenues associated with our former licensing agreement with Microsoft were recognized in the period in which URLs were added to the
database and the database was delivered to Microsoft. We did not recognize any license revenue related to Microsoft in 2005.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Determination of collectibility of payments requires significant judgment on the part of management and includes performing initial and
ongoing credit evaluations of customers. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the failure of our
customers to make required payments. This valuation allowance is reviewed on a periodic basis to determine whether a provision or reversal is
required. The review is based on factors including the application of historical collection rates to current receivables. We will
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record a reduction of our allowance for doubtful accounts if there is a significant improvement in collection rates or economic conditions are
more favorable than we anticipated. Additional allowances for doubtful accounts may be required if there is deterioration in past due balances,
if economic conditions are less favorable than we anticipated or for customer-specific circumstances, such as bankruptcy. Management’s
judgment is required in the periodic review of whether a provision or reversal is warranted.
Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets
We have recorded goodwill and intangible assets in connection with our business acquisitions. Management exercises judgment in the
assessment of the related useful lives, fair value and recoverability of these assets. The majority of intangible assets are amortized over three to
seven years, the period of expected benefit. Goodwill is not amortized. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), we periodically re-assess the valuation and asset lives of intangible assets to
conform to changes in management’s estimates of future performance. Management considers existing and anticipated competitive and
economic conditions in such assessments. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually and as a result of any event that significantly
changes our business. Cash flow forecasts used in evaluation of goodwill are based on trends of historical performance and management’s
estimate of future performance.
Deferred Taxes
We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences between the financial statement carrying values and the tax bases
of assets and liabilities. We regularly review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and establish a valuation allowance based on historical
taxable income, projected future taxable income, and the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences. If we operate at a
loss or are unable to generate sufficient future taxable income, or if there is a material change in the actual effective tax rates or time period
within which the underlying temporary differences become taxable or deductible, we could be required to increase the valuation allowance
against all or a significant portion of our deferred tax assets which could substantially increase our effective tax rate for such period.
Alternatively, if our future taxable income is significantly higher than expected and/or we are able to utilize our tax credits, we may be required
to reverse all or a significant part of our valuation allowance against such deferred tax assets which could substantially reduce our effective tax
rate for such period. Therefore, any significant changes in statutory tax rates or the amount of our valuation allowance could have a material
impact on the value of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, and our reported financial results.
Internal Use Software Development Costs
We account for internal use software in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“AICPA”) Statement of
Position No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use (“SOP 98-1”). In accordance with
the capitalization criteria of SOP 98-1, we have capitalized external direct costs of materials and services consumed in developing and
obtaining internal-use computer software and the payroll and payroll-related costs of employees who devote time to the internal-use computer
software project.
Management’s judgment is required in determining the point at which various projects enter the stages at which costs may be capitalized,
in assessing the ongoing value of the capitalized costs, and in determining the estimated useful lives over which the costs are amortized. We
expect to continue to invest in internally developed software and to capitalize costs in accordance with SOP 98-1.
Restructuring Charges
We have recorded a restructuring accrual related to closing certain leased facilities in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal of Activities (“SFAS 146”). Management’s judgment is required
when estimating when the redundant facilities will be subleased and at what rate they will be subleased.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For a description of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 1 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Overview of 2005
Revenues for 2005 were $41.4 million, with a net loss of $17.8 million. The following developments during 2005 were key to our
business:
Improving our traffic conversion standards. We continued removing traffic sources from our distribution network that do not
•
conform to the quality standards of our advertisers. As such, our total number of paid clicks for 2005 of 306 million was lower than
our number of paid clicks in 2004 of 482 million. Our average revenue per click (“RPC”) for 2005 was $0.15 per click, slightly
lower than the average for 2004 of $0.16 per click.
Developing syndicated solutions for publishers. We continued focusing on our private-labeled AdCenter, providing search of a
•
publisher’s own archived content, and a tailored version of our Furl online bookmarking system for publishers. During the third
quarter of 2005, we began generating revenue under agreements with several major companies. We currently expect to add more
publishers to our network.
•

Focusing on our vertical search business. We are leveraging our core expertise in database structures, algorithmic searches and
communities by integrating Furl and other LookSmart technologies to provide a compelling environment for both customers and
advertisers. We launched 181 vertical search sites in 13 different categories during 2005.

Revenues
Year Ended December 31,
Change
2005

Change
2004

2003

(in thousands)

Online advertising
Percentage of total revenues
Licensing
Percentage of total revenues

$41,359
100%
—
— %

Total revenues

$41,359

(46)%
(100)%
(46)%

$76,808
100%
188
— %

(36)%

$76,996

(43)%

(99)%

$119,528
89%
15,304
11%
$134,832

Online Advertising
Online advertising revenue primarily decreased in 2005 as a result of the elimination of low converting traffic as we continued our efforts
to improve traffic quality and optimize traffic flow from our distribution network partners. Further, revenues also decreased due to the winding
down of our agreement with Microsoft, which began in January of 2004. This decrease was partially offset by a 94% increase in revenue from
the sale of our consumer products, driven by our FindArticles product. In 2005, we improved our content, which subsequently increased page
views and FindArticles revenue. We also began generating revenue from our AdCenter agreements during the second half of 2005, which
further offset the overall decrease in revenue.
The decrease in online advertising revenues in 2004 compared to 2003 was related to the termination of the Microsoft agreement. A 64%
increase in our non-Microsoft revenue, primarily due to the addition of new distribution network partners in 2004, partially offset the overall
decrease.
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Total paid clicks were 306 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 482 million during 2004. Average revenue per
click, excluding discounted, run-of-site products, decreased to $0.15 per click during 2005, compared to $0.16 per click during 2004. In 2005,
we began removing low-converting traffic from our distribution network. During this time, our RPC decreased as advertisers were less willing
to pay our previous rates for low-quality traffic.
Included in total revenue is revenue from the sale of advertising on our vertical search products. This revenue was less than 10% of total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005.
Licensing
Prior to 2004 we exclusively licensed our database content to Microsoft and customized it for their use. We derived all of our licensing
revenue from our agreement with Microsoft, which expired on January 15, 2004.
We expect total revenues to slightly increase in 2006.
Cost of Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
Change

Change
2004

2005

2003

(in thousands)

Traffic acquisition costs
Percentage of online advertising revenue
Other costs of revenue

$21,560
52%
6,061

(45)%

Total cost of revenue

$27,621

(38)%

Percentage of total revenues

9%

67%

$39,234
51%
5,546

(39)%

$44,780

(36)%

(8)%

$64,225
54%
5,996
$70,221

58%

52%

Traffic acquisition costs, the costs paid to our distribution network partners, decreased in 2005 compared to 2004, which coincides with
our decrease in online advertising revenue. These costs increased as a percentage of online advertising revenue as we began paying a slightly
higher revenue sharing percentage to our distribution network partners for higher converting traffic. As a result of the loss of major distribution
network partners, traffic acquisition costs decreased by 39% in 2004 compared to 2003.
Other costs of revenue consist of connectivity costs, personnel costs of our operations employees including stock-based compensation,
equipment depreciation, expenses relating to hosting advertising operations, commissions paid to advertising agencies and amortization of
intangible assets. During 2005, other costs of revenue increased due to an increase in fees related to one of our FindArticles content providers.
Other costs of revenue decreased in 2004 compared to 2003 due to restructuring efforts in late 2003 and early 2004.
We expect traffic acquisition costs as a percent of online advertising revenue to be relatively consistent with the 2005 percentage.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, product development, general and administrative and restructuring charges. We are in
the process of evaluating the stock option expensing requirements of SFAS 123R and expect the adoption to significantly increase operating
expenses in 2006. We are not presently in a position to quantify the impact of the adoption, and therefore, our expectations of future operating
expenses are presented on a non-GAAP basis excluding the impact of the adoption of SFAS 123R.
Sales and Marketing
Year Ended December 31,
Change
2005

Change
2004

2003

(in thousands)

Sales and marketing expenses
Percentage of total revenues

$6,641
16%
27

(12)%

$7,541
10%

(48)%

14,449
11%
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Sales and marketing expenses include salaries, commissions, stock-based compensation and other costs of employment for our sales
force, sales administration and customer service staff, overhead, facilities, allocation of depreciation and the provision for and reductions of the
allowance for doubtful trade receivables. Sales and marketing expenses also include the costs of advertising, trade shows and public relations
activities.
Sales and marketing expenses decreased in 2005 compared to 2004 primarily due to a reduction in headcount and therefore salaries and
benefits of $1.4 million as a result of our restructuring activities in 2004, and lower commissions and bonuses due to the decrease in revenue.
The decrease was partially offset by a $0.6 million increase in marketing and promotional expenses in an effort to drive consumers to our sites.
The decline in sales and marketing expenses from 2003 to 2004 was primarily attributable to a reduction in headcount and therefore
salaries, wages and benefits of $7.1 million, resulting from our restructuring activities. In addition, marketing and travel expenses declined $0.6
million in 2004 compared to 2003. This reduction was due to our headcount reduction and overall cost reductions efforts. This decrease was
offset by an increase in bad debt expense of $0.5 million from 2003 to 2004.
In 2006, we expect sales and marketing expenses to increase due to promotional expenses increases to attract consumers and advertisers
to our sites and increased headcount for our direct selling efforts.
Product Development
Year Ended December 31,
Change
2005

Change
2004

2003

(in thousands)

Capitalized software development costs
Other product development expenses

$ (738)
18,929

258%
(19)%

$ (206)
23,358

(91)%
(18)%

$ (2,244)
28,500

Total product development expenses

$18,191

(21)%

$23,152

(12)%

$26,256

Percentage of total revenues

44%

30%

19%

Product development costs include all costs related to the development and engineering of new products and continued development of
our search databases and additional features for our customer account management platform. These costs include salaries and associated costs
of employment, including stock-based compensation, overhead, facilities and amortization of intangible assets. Costs related to the
development of software for internal use in the business, including salaries and associated costs of employment are capitalized after certain
milestones have been achieved. Software licensing and computer equipment depreciation related to supporting product development functions
are also included in product development expenses.
Capitalized software development costs include the costs to develop software for internal use, excluding costs associated with research
and development, training and testing. During 2005 compared to 2004, the increase in capitalized development costs was due to projects related
to developing our vertical sites and our proprietary software platform for tracking and invoicing clicks, totaling $0.9 million. Offsetting the
increase in capitalized costs from 2005 to 2004 was a write down of previously capitalized software of $0.2 million during the third quarter of
2005. These increases in 2005 compared to 2004 were partially outweighed by a $0.8 million write down in 2004 of software costs previously
capitalized for projects that were cancelled in the second quarter of 2004. These projects were canceled because they were not aligned with our
future operating plan.
The decrease in capitalized software development in 2004 compared to 2003 was primarily related to a reduction in the number of
engineers assigned to capitalizable projects. Additionally, in the second quarter of 2004, we wrote down $0.8 million in software costs
previously capitalized for projects that were cancelled.
The decrease in other product development expenses during 2005 compared to 2004 was due primarily to a reduction in salaries and
benefits of $3.5 million as part of our restructuring activities in 2004. Further, allocations of overhead expenses, which are based on headcount,
decreased $0.8 million as headcount decreased 21% from December 31, 2004.
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The decrease in other product development expenses in 2004 compared to 2003 was due primarily to a reduction in salaries, benefits and
other employee costs of $5.2 million and a decrease in the use of outside consultants of $0.7 million, due to the restructuring activities starting
in the fourth quarter of 2003, offset by $0.7 million in retention bonuses paid to key employees in 2004.
In 2006, we expect product development costs to remain relatively consistent with 2005 levels.
General and Administrative
Year Ended December 31,
Change

Change

2005

2004

2003

(in thousands)

General and administrative expenses
Percentage of total revenues

$7,835
19%

(14)%

$9,095
12%

(13)%

$10,499
8%

General and administrative expenses include costs of executive management, human resources, finance, legal and facilities personnel.
These costs include salaries and associated costs of employment, including stock-based compensation, overhead, facilities and an allocation of
depreciation. General and administrative expenses also include legal, tax and accounting, consulting and professional service fees.
General and administrative expenses decreased for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to the year ended December 31, 2004
primarily from renegotiating certain of our insurance policies, which resulted in a cost savings of $0.7 million in 2005. Also, salaries decreased
$0.3 million from 2005 to 2004 as a result of non-restructuring separation payments. These payments were $0.2 million in 2005 compared to
$0.5 million in 2004. We also had decreases related to employee benefits and payroll taxes of $0.2 million and a loss on disposal of assets in
2004 of $0.3 million. The total decrease in general and administrative expenses was partially outweighed by an increase in legal fees of $0.3
million related to outstanding litigation, patent applications and legal fees related to our reverse stock split.
The decrease in general and administrative expenses in 2004 compared to 2003 was due to a decrease in headcount and therefore salaries
and benefits of $0.9 million resulting from restructuring activities starting in the fourth quarter of 2003. Further, professional services
decreased by $0.8 million due to legal settlement expenses in the first half of 2003. Partially offsetting the decrease was an increase of
executive recruiting costs of $0.3 million in 2004 compared to 2003.
In 2006, we expect general and administrative expenses to be slightly down compared to 2005 levels.
Restructuring Charges
Year Ended December 31,
Change
2005

Change
2004

2003

(in thousands)

Restructuring charges
Percentage of total revenues

$1,024
2%

(76)%

$4,185
5%

4%

$4,006
3%

Employee Severance Costs
In November 2003, we implemented a restructuring plan to eliminate 77 positions in the United States due to the loss of the ongoing
business agreement with Microsoft. The severance charges associated with the reduction in force were $0.8 million. In the first and the second
quarters of 2004, we eliminated an additional 43 positions in the United States, which included a reduction in our sales force of 11 positions, a
reduction in our general and administrative departments of five positions, a reduction in our product development department of 14 positions
and a reduction in our editorial team of 13 positions. This reduction resulted in $1.0 million restructuring charges recognized in 2004 and is
included in operating expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. All employee severance costs were paid by December 31, 2004.
There were no additional restructuring charges related to employee severance costs incurred in 2005.
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Lease Restructuring Costs
In connection with the restructuring activities noted above, we closed certain leased facilities and incurred lease restructuring costs related
to closing these facilities of $3.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2003, and costs related to the closing of further redundant leased facilities of
$3.2 million in the first quarter of 2004.
During the first half of 2005, we had limited success in subleasing our unused space since the establishment of the restructuring liability,
and we modified our original estimates. This resulted in additional restructuring charges of $1.9 million in the second quarter of 2005,
reflecting the reduced probability of subleasing the available space. However in October 2005, we and one of our sublessees executed a letter
of intent to sublease an additional portion of the unused space, which resulted in a reduction of the restructuring liability by $0.3 million, which
was recorded in the third quarter of 2005. Further, in February 2006, we and another sublessee executed a letter of intent to sublease an
additional portion of the unused space, which resulted in a further reduction of the restructuring liability by $0.6 million, which was recorded in
the fourth quarter of 2005.
We do not currently expect to incur significant further restructuring charges related to closing redundant leased facilities in 2006 as we
have sublet most of our unused space. However, if the letter of intent that we have signed with our sublessee does not result in an executed
sublease agreement, we may be required to further adjust our restructuring liability.
Non-Operating Income (Expense)
Interest and Other Non-Operating Income, net
Year Ended December 31,
2005

Change

2004

Change

2003

(in thousands)

Other income (expense), net
Interest income
Interest expense
Share of joint venture loss

$ 220
$ 1,857
$ (29)
$ —

76%
120%
(3)%
(100)%

$ 125
$ 844
$ (30)
$ (115)

(107)%
38%
(73)%
(80)%

$(1,678)
$ 613
$ (112)
$ (563)

Other income (expense), net includes foreign exchange gains and losses, realized gains or losses on investments, and other non-operating
items. In 2005, we recovered $137,000 of previously written off receivables, which caused the overall increase in other income (expense), net.
Interest income includes income from our cash, cash equivalents and investments. The increase in 2005 from 2004 was due to higher
overall interest rates earned by our investment portfolio.
Interest expense primarily includes interest due on our note payable and was comparable to 2004.
We did not recognize any share of joint venture loss in 2005 as the wind-down of such operations was mostly completed in 2004.
In 2004 as compared to 2003, an increase in other income (expense), net of $1.8 million drove the overall increase in interest and nonoperating income. In 2003 we recorded losses related to foreign currency transactions from our foreign entities, which is included in other
income (expense), net. However, in the beginning of 2004, we began closing our foreign entities. As a result we had significantly fewer
transactions in foreign currencies and thus recorded less gains and losses related to foreign currency exchange rates.
Income Tax Expense
Year Ended December 31,
2005

Change

2004

Change

2003

(in thousands)

Income tax expense

$

(2)
30

(98)%

$ (110)

(69)%

$ (354)
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During 2005, we incurred a net loss and recorded minimum state income tax expense of $2,000. The decrease from 2004 was a result of
revisions to estimated 2003 taxes recorded in 2004.
In 2004 the reduction in our income tax expense was due to the net loss incurred in 2004 compared to net income in 2003. The charge in
2004 related to revisions of our estimated 2003 federal and state taxes, including California alternative minimum tax. Income tax expense in
2003 was due to federal alternative minimum tax.
The effective tax rate in 2006 may vary due to a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, the relative income contribution by tax
jurisdiction, changes in statutory tax rates, and any non-deductible items related to acquisitions or other non-recurring charges.
Gain (Loss) from Discontinued Operations, net of tax
Year Ended December 31,
Change

Change

2005

2004

2003

(in thousands)

Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

$110

(92)%

$1,405

(182)%

$(1,723)

In January 2004, we agreed to sell certain of the assets of our Australian subsidiary, and related intellectual property rights, to a
subsidiary of Telstra Corporation Limited for approximately $0.7 million. In March 2004, we agreed to sell certain of the assets of our Japanese
subsidiary, and related intellectual property rights to Value Commerce for approximately $0.7 million. Also in March 2004, we agreed to sell
certain assets of our British subsidiary, and the related intellectual property rights to Crystal for approximately $0.1 million. The gain on
disposal of the operations of $1.0 million recorded in 2004 is shown net of $0.4 million for transitional expenses.
We recorded an additional gain of $0.1 million in 2005 as a result of additional disposal activities and an increased tax benefit.
Revenue and pretax net income (loss) from the discontinued international operations (excluding gain on disposal), previously included in
the online advertising segment of the business, reported in discontinued operations were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2005

Revenue

$—

Pretax net income (loss) (excluding gain on disposal)
Tax impact
Gain on disposal

—
67
43

Net gain (loss) from discontinued operations

$110

2004

2003

$6,036

$21,397

407
(25)
1,023
$1,405

(1,501)
(222)
—
$ (1,723)

In 2004, international revenue decreased 72% from 2003 due to the sale or closure of our international businesses and the expiration of
our agreement with Microsoft.
Pretax income from discontinued operations in 2004 includes approximately $0.4 million related to the reduction of the allowance for
doubtful accounts in the second quarter of 2004, as substantially all accounts were collected in certain locations, and approximately $1.7
million related to the disposition and write down of certain international assets and the reduction of estimated liabilities in 2004, offset by
expenses related to the operations of the entities during the periods and the reversal of cumulative translation adjustments of $0.4 million
related to both the United Kingdom and Japan, which had been substantially liquidated as of December 31, 2004. As we finalize the liquidation
process of our Australian subsidiary, we expect to record additional income related to the reversal of cumulative translation adjustments of $0.5
million in 2006.
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In 2004, significant reductions in operating expenses primarily due to our restructuring activities, resulted in the pretax net loss decrease
compared to 2003. Operating expenses in sales and general and administrative areas significantly offset the increase in gross margin due to the
increased revenue in 2003 compared to 2002. In 2003, tax expense increased due to statutory rates applied to revenue and net taxable income in
local jurisdictions.
Extraordinary Gain from the Purchase of BTLS Joint Venture Entities, net of tax
Year Ended December 31,
Change

Change

2005

2004

2003

(in thousands)

Extraordinary gain from the purchase of BTLS joint venture entities, net of tax

$—

— %

$—

(100)%

$202

In the first quarter of 2003, as part of the dissolution of the joint venture, BT LookSmart transferred ownership of its directories and of its
European and Japanese subsidiaries to us. We received net assets of $0.2 million along with the ongoing operating and revenue-generating
relationships contained in these entities as part of the dissolution and settlement for nominal consideration. In connection with the acquisition
of the joint venture entities, we recorded an extraordinary gain of $0.2 million, which represents the fair value of net assets we recorded in
excess of the consideration paid upon the acquisition.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
In accordance with the definition of cash equivalents in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows
(“SFAS 95”), we reclassified $1.8 million of short-term investments which had been purchased with original or remaining maturities of greater
than ninety days at date of purchase and which had remaining maturities of less than ninety days at the balance sheet date from cash and cash
equivalents to short-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004. The following table summarizes the
Consolidated Balance Sheets amounts as previously reported and as reclassified (in thousands):
December 31, 2004

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments

As Reported

As Reclassified

$ 45,054
$ 7,648

$
$

43,262
9,440

We also made corresponding adjustments to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2004 to reflect
the purchases and proceeds from sales of these securities as investing rather than as a component of cash and cash equivalents. For the year
ended December 31, 2004, before this reclassification, net cash used in investing activities related to these investments of $1.8 million was
included in cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. These reclassifications had no impact on the previously
reported net loss, total current assets, working capital, cash flow from operations, or cash flow from financing activities.
The following table summarizes the effect of these reclassifications on proceeds from sale of investments, net cash used in investing
activities, decrease in cash and cash equivalents, and cash and cash equivalents, end of period, on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2004 (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31, 2004
As Reclassified
As Reported

Proceeds from sale of investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$
6,096
$ (16,239)
$ (18,812)
$ 45,054
32

$
$
$
$

4,304
(18,031)
(20,604)
43,262
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The following table presents our cash flows provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 (in thousands).
Year ended
December 31, 2004
Year ended
December 31,

As Reported

As Reclassified

Year ended
December 31,

2005

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows provided by financing activities

$
$
$

(7,467)
(2,470)
111

2003

$ (6,771)
$ (16,239)
$ 4,561

$
$
$

(6,771)
(18,031)
4,561

$
$
$

19,268
(9,635)
5,808

Our primary source of cash is receipts from revenue. The primary uses of cash are payroll (salaries, benefits, and other employee
compensation), general operating expenses (office rent, utilities, insurance and supplies), payments to distribution network partners related to
traffic acquisition costs, content costs and professional services related to legal and audit costs. We ended 2005 with $51.3 million in cash, cash
equivalents, and short and long-term investments, a decrease of $12.6 million from $63.9 million at December 31, 2004.
The increase in cash used in operating activities in 2005 compared to 2004 was primarily due to the increased net loss of $8.2 million and
a decrease in cash paid for accrued liabilities of $15.6 million primarily due to lower accruals for partner payments related to cost of revenue,
corresponding with the decrease in revenue. The decrease in revenue had a corresponding effect on cash collected from accounts receivable; it
decreased $17.3 million. During 2004, net cash provided by operations decreased $26.0 million from 2003. A net loss of $9.6 million in 2004
compared to net income of $5.8 million in 2003 was the primary reason for the decrease. Further, cash used for accrued liabilities increased by
$30.1 million as accrued liabilities decreased due to the decline in revenue from 2004 to 2003 and the resulting reduction in distribution partner
costs.
Net cash used in investing activities in 2005 of $2.5 million resulted primarily from the purchases of short-term investments of $4.1
million and long-term investments of $3.7 million. Further, we purchased equipment and capitalized costs related to internally developed
software of $3.9 million. These decreases in cash from investing were partially offset by proceeds from the sale of short-term investments of
$9.9 million. In 2004 compared to 2003, net cash used in investing activities increased $8.4 million primarily due to the purchase of long-term
investments of $16.7 million, which was partially offset by proceeds from the sale of these long-term investments of $5.4 million and a
decrease of $3.2 million in purchases of property, equipment and capitalized software.
Net cash provided by financing activities in 2005 of $0.1 million resulted primarily from the proceeds related to our employee stock plans
of $0.2 million, a decrease of $4.5 million from 2004. We also made payments against our outstanding note payable of $0.1 million. In 2004,
net cash provided by financing activities decreased $1.2 million due to a decrease in proceeds from our employee stock plans of $2.3 million
and a decrease of $1.1 million in payments against our notes payable.
We have outstanding standby letters of credit (“SBLC”) related to security of building leases and security for payroll processing services
of $1.3 million at December 31, 2005. The SBLC contains four financial covenants. These include a minimum tangible net worth of $40.0
million, a minimum amount of liquid assets of $40.0 million, no more than $8.0 million loss in any fiscal quarter, and no more than $25.0
million loss in any rolling four-quarter period. As of December 31, 2005, we were in compliance with all required covenants.
While we expect cash to decrease in 2006, we believe that our working capital will provide adequate liquidity to fund our operations and
meet other cash requirements for at least the next 12 months. We may seek to raise additional capital through public or private debt or equity
financings in order to fund our operations and capital expenditures, take advantage of favorable business opportunities, develop and upgrade
our technology infrastructure, develop new product and service offerings, take advantage of favorable conditions in capital markets or respond
to competitive pressures. In addition, unanticipated developments in the short-term, such as
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the entry into agreements requiring large cash payments or the acquisition of businesses with negative cash flows, may necessitate additional
financing. We cannot be assured that additional financing will be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. If we issue additional equity or
convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders may experience substantial dilution.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, investments in special-purpose entities or undisclosed borrowings or debt.
Additionally, we are not a party to any derivative contracts or synthetic leases.
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
We incur various contractual obligations and commercial commitments in our normal course of business. The following table
summarizes our significant contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of December 31, 2005, and the effect such obligations are
expected to have on our liquidity and cash flows in future periods (in thousands):
Less than
Total

Note obligation (principal and interest)
Operating leases
Purchase obligations

$

281
18,463
426

Total

$19,170

1 year

$

13 years

45 years

Thereafter

71
4,616
426

$ 144
9,435
—

$

66
4,412
—

$

—
—
—

$ 5,113

$9,579

$4,478

$

—

Indemnification
During the normal course of business, we have made certain guarantees, indemnities and commitments under which we may be required
to make payments in relation to certain transactions. These indemnities include intellectual property and other indemnities to our customers and
distribution network partners in connection with the sales of our products, and indemnities to various lessors in connection with facility leases
for certain claims arising from such facility or lease. Further, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for certain
events or occurrences while the officer or director is, or was, serving, at our request, in such capacity, to the maximum extent permitted under
the laws of the State of Delaware. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these
indemnification agreements is unlimited. However, we maintain directors and officers insurance coverage that may contribute up to certain
limits, a portion of any future amounts paid for indemnification of directors and officers. We believe the estimated fair value of these
indemnification agreements in excess of applicable insurance coverage is minimal. Historically, we have not incurred any losses or recorded
any liabilities related to performance under these types of indemnities.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVEAND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk
Our exposure to market risk for interest rate changes relates primarily to our short-term and long-term investments. We had no derivative
financial instruments as of December 31, 2005 or 2004. We invest our excess cash in debt and equity instruments of high-quality corporate
issuers with original maturities greater than three months and effective maturities less than two years. The amount of credit exposure to any one
issue, issuer and type of instrument is limited. These securities are subject to interest rate risk and vary in value as market interest rates
fluctuate. During the year ended December 31, 2005, the effects of changes in interest rates on the fair market value of our marketable
investment securities and our earnings were not material. Further, we believe that the impact on the fair market value of our securities and our
earnings from a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would not be significant.
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Foreign Currency Risk
International revenues from our foreign subsidiaries were 0%, 7%, and 14% of total revenues in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, and
were derived from our Australian, British and Japanese operations. Our international business was subject to risks typical of an international
business, including but not limited to differing economic conditions, changes in political climate, differing tax structures, other regulations and
restrictions and foreign exchange rate volatility, particularly the exchange rates between the Australian Dollar, the British Pound, the Japanese
Yen and the United States Dollar. In the first quarter of 2004, we signed agreements to sell the assets and activities of our international
subsidiaries and are in the process of liquidating all of our international entities. As of December 31, 2005, our exposure to foreign currency
risk was not significant.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of LookSmart, Ltd. and Subsidiaries:
We have completed integrated audits of LookSmart, Ltd.’s 2005 and 2004 consolidated financial statements and of its internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, and an audit of its 2003 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.
Consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of LookSmart, Ltd. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial
statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit of financial statements
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Internal control over financial reporting
Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
appearing under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on management’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. An audit of internal control over financial reporting
includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail,
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accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/

P RICEWATERHOUSE C OOPERS LLP

San Francisco, California
March 14, 2006
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LOOKSMART, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)
December 31,
2005

2004

$ 33,436
17,871

$ 43,262
9,440

51,307

52,702

2,781
443
569

3,880
1,042
1,174

55,100
—
5,503
2,464
5,519
14,422

58,798
11,198
5,988
3,318
7,364
14,422

$ 83,008

$ 101,088

$

$

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $240 and $497 at December 31,
2005 and 2004 and allowance for returns of $14 and $965 at December 31, 2005 and 2004
Prepaid expenses
Other current assets
Total current assets
Long-term investments
Property and equipment, net
Security deposits and other assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Total assets
LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Trade accounts payable
Other accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue and customer deposits
Current portion of long-term liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Other long-term liabilities, net of current portion
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Stockholders’ equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value; Authorized: 5,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004;
Issued and Outstanding: none at December 31, 2005 and 2004
Common stock, $0.001 par value; Authorized: 200,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004; Issued and
Outstanding: 22,912 and 22,854, at December 31, 2005 and 2004
Additional paid-in capital
Other equity
Accumulated deficit

9,735
236
5,017

14,557

14,988

—

23
271,851
386
(203,809)

23
271,694
395
(186,012)

68,451

86,100

$ 83,008

$ 101,088

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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360
6,584
1,525
1,266

10,071
184
4,302

—

Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

1,629
4,865
2,047
1,530
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LOOKSMART, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2005

2004

2003

$ 41,359
—

$ 76,808
188

$119,528
15,304

Total revenues
Cost of revenues

41,359
27,621

76,996
44,780

134,832
70,221

Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Product development
General and administrative
Restructuring charges

13,738

32,216

64,611

6,641
18,191
7,835
1,024

7,541
23,152
9,095
4,185

14,449
26,256
10,499
4,006

33,691

43,973

55,210

Income (loss) from operations
Non-operating income (expense):
Other income (expense), net
Interest income
Interest expense
Share of joint venture loss

(19,953)

(11,757)

9,401

220
1,857
(29)
—

125
844
(30)
(115)

(1,678)
613
(112)
(563)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes and extraordinary gain
Income tax expense

(17,905)
(2)

(10,933)
(110)

7,661
(354)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before extraordinary gain
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

(17,907)
110

(11,043)
1,405

7,307
(1,723)

Income (loss) before extraordinary gain
Extraordinary gain from the purchase of BTLS joint venture entities, net of tax

(17,797)
—

(9,638)
—

5,584
202

$(17,797)

$ (9,638)

$

5,786

$

$

$

0.35
(0.08)

Revenues:
Online advertising
Licensing

Total operating expenses

Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) per share—Basic
Income (loss) from continuing operations before extraordinary gain
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Income (loss) before extraordinary gain
Extraordinary gain from the purchase of BTLS joint venture entities, net of tax
Net income (loss) per share

(0.78)
—
$

Weighted average shares outstanding used in computing basic net
income (loss) per share
Net income (loss) per share—Diluted
Income (loss) from continuing operations before extraordinary gain
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax

(0.78)

$

(0.79)
0.01

$

(0.78)

(0.43)

0.27
0.01
$

22,266

$

(0.78)
—
$

(0.49)
0.06
(0.43)
—

22,765

Income (loss) before extraordinary gain
Extraordinary gain from the purchase of BTLS joint venture entities, net of tax
Net income (loss)

(0.79)
0.01

(0.49)
0.06

20,739

$

(0.43)
—
$

(0.43)

0.28

0.34
(0.08)
0.26
0.01

$

0.27

Weighted average shares outstanding used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share

22,765

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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LOOKSMART, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)
Common Stock
Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Other
Equity

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

$

10

$249,334

$ 718

$ (182,160)

$

5
1

6,435
3,614

Shares

Balance at December 31, 2002
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock
options
Common stock issued for acquisitions
Common stock issued for employee
stock purchase plan
Common stock issued upon exercise of warrants
Stock-based compensation
Tax benefit related to stock
plans
Comprehensive income:
Unrealized gain on securities,
net
Translation adjustment
Net income

20,284

Balance at December 31, 2003

21,561

16

261,882

750
502

4
3

4,376
5,074

Common stock issued upon exercise of stock
options
Common stock issued for acquisitions
Common stock issued for employee stock
purchase plan
Stock-based compensation
Comprehensive loss:
Unrealized loss on securities,
net
Translation adjustment
Reversal of CTA due to liquidation of foreign
subsidiaries
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2004
Common stock issued upon exercise of stock
options
Common stock issued for employee stock
purchase plan
Stock-based compensation
Comprehensive loss:
Unrealized loss on securities, net
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2005

965
43

—
—

—
—

67,902

99
170
—

—
—
—

558
913
772

—
(913)
238

—
—
—

6,440
3,615
—
558
—
1,010

—

—

256

—

—

256

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

1
729
—

—
—
5,786

773

(176,374)

1
729
5,786

$

1
729
5,786

86,297

$

6,516

—
—

—
—

4,380
5,077

41
—

—
—

276
86

—
68

—
—

276
154

—
—

—
—

—
—

(83)
(2)

—
—

(83)
(2)

—
—

—
—

—
—

(361)
—

—
(9,638)

22,854

23

271,694

395

(186,012)

86,100

(47)
(17,797)

$

(47)
(17,797)

68,451

$

(17,844)

—

—

92

31
—

—
—

103
(38)

—
38

—
—

103
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(47)
—

23

$271,851

$ 386

$ (203,809)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(361)
(9,638)
(10,084)

92

—
(17,797)

(83)
(2)

$

—

$

$

(361)
(9,638)

27

22,912

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Table of Contents
LOOKSMART, LTD.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,

Operating activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:
Share of joint venture loss
Depreciation and amortization
Stock compensation
(Gain) loss from sale of assets and other non-cash charges
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and disposals:
Trade accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses
Other assets
Trade accounts payable
Other accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue and customer deposits

2005

2004

2003

$(17,797)

$ (9,638)

$ 5,786

—
7,957
—
622

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Purchase of short-term investments
Proceeds from sale of short-term investments
Proceeds from sale of long-term investments
Purchase of long-term investments
Funding to joint venture and subsidiaries
Payments for property, equipment and capitalized software development
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment
Proceeds from the sale of assets of foreign entities
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Repayment of notes
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

115
8,186
154
(653)

563
7,836
1,010
(315)

1,099
598
402
1,269
(2,140)
523

18,385
1,266
216
(3,240)
(17,725)
(3,837)

(6,413)
(260)
905
267
12,325
(2,436)

(7,467)

(6,771)

19,268

(750)
(4,055)
9,904
—
(3,731)
—
(3,854)
16
—

(2,116)
(7,676)
4,304
5,392
(16,677)
—
(2,824)
82
1,484

(612)
(6,068)
3,568
—
—
(500)
(6,035)
12
—

(2,470)

(18,031)

(9,635)

(84)
195

(95)
4,656

(1,190)
6,998

111

4,561

5,808

—

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

(9,826)
43,262

(363)

729

(20,604)
63,866

16,170
47,696

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$ 33,436

$ 43,262

$63,866

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities
Issuance of stock for acquisitions
Cashless exercise of warrants
Interest paid
Income taxes paid

$
$
$
$

$ 5,077
$
—
$
27
$
158

$ 3,615
$ 913
$ 112
$ 598

—
—
30
42

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Business and Principles of Consolidation
LookSmart is an online media and technology company specializing in vertical search. The Company, a Delaware corporation, was
incorporated in 1996.

At a meeting of stockholders on October 26, 2005, the Company’s stockholders considered a proposal to approve a series of amendments
to the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split of its common stock whereby, at the discretion of the
Board of Directors, each outstanding three, five or seven shares of the Company’s common stock would be combined into and become one
share of common stock. Following shareholder approval, the Board of Directors selected the split ratio to be one-for-five. The Company filed a
Certificate of Amendment to its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Delaware Secretary of State to effect the reverse
stock split. The reverse stock split became effective at the close of business on October 26, 2005. All share and per share information included
in these Consolidated Financial Statements has been retroactively adjusted to reflect the reverse stock split. Shares authorized and par value
were not adjusted as they were not affected by the reverse stock split.
In the first quarter of 2004, the Company signed agreements to sell certain of the assets and activities of its Australian, British and
Japanese subsidiaries. Accordingly, the consolidated results of operations have been recast to remove the results of the international operations
from continuing operations for all periods presented in these Consolidated Financial Statements. Results of discontinued international
operations are included in the separate line item labeled gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax, for all periods presented. The
results of the discontinued operations are summarized in Note 16 (Discontinued Operations).
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. This requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues,
expenses, and contingent assets and liabilities during the reporting period. The Company bases its estimates on various factors and information
which may include, but are not limited to, history and prior experience, experience of other enterprises in the same industry, new related events,
current economic conditions and information from third party professionals that is believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Reclassifications
In accordance with the definition of cash equivalents in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows
(“SFAS 95”), the Company reclassified $1.8 million of short-term investments which had been purchased with original or remaining maturities
of greater than ninety days at date of purchase and which had remaining maturities of less than ninety days at the balance sheet date from cash
and cash equivalents to short-term investments on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004. The following table summarizes
the Consolidated Balance Sheets amounts as previously reported and as reclassified (in thousands):
December 31, 2004

Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
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As Reported

As Reclassified

$ 45,054
$ 7,648

$
$

43,262
9,440
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The Company also made corresponding adjustments to the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2004
to reflect the purchases and proceeds from sales of these securities as investing rather than as a component of cash and cash equivalents. For the
year ended December 31, 2004, before this reclassification, net cash used in investing activities related to these investments of $1.8 million was
included in cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. These reclassifications had no impact on the previously
reported net loss, total current assets, working capital, cash flow from operations, or cash flow from financing activities.
The following table summarizes the effect of these reclassifications on proceeds from sale of investments, net cash used in investing
activities, decrease in cash and cash equivalents, and cash and cash equivalents, end of period, on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2004 (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31, 2004
As Reclassified
As Reported

Proceeds from sale of investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$
6,096
$ (16,239)
$ (18,812)
$ 45,054

$
$
$
$

4,304
(18,031)
(20,604)
43,262

Certain other prior years’ balances have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. The reclassifications had no
material impact on net loss or stockholders’ equity.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, long-term investments, trade
accounts receivable, trade accounts payable, and other accrued liabilities are carried at cost, which approximates fair value due to the relatively
short maturity of those instruments. Based upon borrowing rates with similar terms currently available to the Company, the carrying value of
notes payable approximates fair value.
Foreign Currencies
The balance sheets of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries, whose functional currency is their local currency through substantial
completion of liquidation, are translated into United States Dollars at year-end rates of exchange. Revenues and expenses are translated at
average rates for the year. The resulting translation adjustments are shown as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and as a component
of comprehensive income (loss). Where substantial liquidation has occurred, the cumulative translation adjustment has been reversed and
reported in gain (loss) from discontinued operations. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2004, the functional currency of the Company’s foreign
subsidiaries was changed to the US Dollar and all translation adjustments thereafter are included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
See Note 16 (Discontinued Operations) for complete discussion of discontinued international operations.
Exchange gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in a foreign currency other than the functional currency of the entity
involved are included in other income (expense), net. Such exchange income (loss) amounted to $84,000, $(35,000), and $(958,000) for 2005,
2004, and 2003 respectively. The Company has not entered into foreign currency forward exchange contracts or any other derivative
instruments.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity or maturity at
date of purchase of ninety days or less to be cash equivalents.
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Investments
The Company accounts for investments in securities under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities (“SFAS 115”). SFAS 115 requires the classification of investments in debt and equity securities with
readily determinable fair values as “held-to-maturity,” “available-for-sale,” or “trading.”
The Company invests its excess cash primarily in debt instruments of high-quality corporate and government issuers. All highly liquid
instruments with maturities at the date of purchase greater than ninety days and current maturities less than twelve months from the balance
sheet date are considered short-term investments. The Company considers auction rate securities to be short-term investments based on its
intent to liquidate the securities within twelve months of the balance sheet date. All instruments with maturities at date of purchase greater than
one year from the balance sheet date are considered long-term investments. These securities are classified as available-for-sale and carried at
fair value, based on quoted market prices. At December 31, 2005, the Company’s short-term investments were primarily commercial paper
with maturities in excess of 90 days. Long-term investments at December 31, 2004, were primarily commercial paper with maturities in excess
of one year. Fair values were determined for each individual security in the investment portfolio.
Changes in value of these investments are primarily related to changes in interest rates and are considered to be temporary in nature.
Except for declines in fair value that are not considered temporary, net unrealized gains or losses on these investments are reported as a
component of accumulated comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. The Company recognizes realized gains and losses upon sale
of investments using the specific identification method.
Concentrations, Credit Risk and Credit Risk Evaluation
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, shortterm investments, long- term investments and accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, substantially all of the Company’s
cash, cash equivalents and investments were managed by one financial institution. The fair value of these investments is subject to fluctuation
based on market prices.
Credit Risk Evaluation
Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from revenue earned from customers. The Company performs ongoing credit
evaluations of its customers and maintains allowances for estimated credit losses. The Company applies judgment as to its ability to collect
outstanding receivables based primarily on management’s evaluation of the customer’s financial condition and past collection history and
records a specific allowance. In addition, the Company records an allowance based on the length of time other receivables are past due.
Historically, such losses have been within management’s expectations. As of December 31, 2005 one customer accounted for 28% of accounts
receivable and another customer accounted for 13% of accounts receivable. No one customer accounted for 10% or more of accounts
receivable as of December 31, 2004.
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Revenue Concentrations
The Company derived the following percentages of its revenue primarily from its relationship with significant distribution network
partners, as well as customers:
Year Ended December 31,
2005

Company 1
Company 2
Company 3
Company 4
Company 5

23%
12%
11%
4%
1%

2004

16%
11%
5%
12%
13%

2003

6%
4%
— %
6%
65%

The Company derived 100% of its licensing revenues in 2004 and 2003 from its agreement with Microsoft.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Software

3 years
5 to 7 years
2 to 3 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.
When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from their
respective accounts, and any gain or loss on such sale or disposal is reflected in operating expenses. Maintenance and repairs are charged to
expense as incurred. Expenditures that substantially increase an asset’s useful life are capitalized.
Internal Use Software Development Costs
The Company accounts for internal use software development costs in accordance with American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Statement of Position No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use (“SOP
98-1”). In accordance with the capitalization criteria of SOP 98-1, the Company has capitalized external direct costs of materials and services
consumed in developing and obtaining internal-use computer software and the payroll and payroll-related costs for employees who are directly
associated with and who devote time to developing the internal-use computer software.
The Company’s capitalized software development costs were $6.7 million and $6.0 million with related accumulated amortization of $5.1
million and $3.3 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Amortization expense was $1.8 million, $1.8 million and $1.2 million
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Capitalized software development costs are included in other assets and
are generally amortized over two to three years.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”), goodwill
and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are reviewed periodically for impairment.
46

Table of Contents
LOOKSMART, LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
The provisions of SFAS 142 require that a two-step test be performed to assess goodwill for impairment. First, the fair value of each
reporting unit is compared to its carrying value. If the fair value exceeds the carrying value, goodwill is not impaired and no further testing is
performed. The second step is performed if the carrying value exceeds the fair value. The implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill
must be determined and compared to the carrying value of the goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its implied
fair value, an impairment loss equal to the difference will be recorded.
The Company reviews goodwill for potential impairment as of December 31 each year and was not required to record a goodwill
impairment charge as a result of the reviews in 2005, 2004 or 2003. The Company will continue to perform the goodwill impairment review
annually or more frequently if facts and circumstances warrant a review.
Cash flow forecasts used in evaluation of goodwill were based on trends of historical performance and management’s estimate of future
performance.
SFAS 142 also requires that intangible assets with definite lives be amortized over their estimated useful life and reviewed for
impairment in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of LongLived Assets (“SFAS 144”). The Company is currently amortizing acquired intangible assets with definite lives over periods from two to seven
years and the amortization expense is primarily classified as cost of revenues in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 144, the Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment, for
impairment whenever events or changes in business circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable.
Under SFAS 144, an impairment loss would be recognized when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use of
the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its carrying amount. Impairment, if any, is measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. Through December 31, 2005, there have been no such impairments.
Revenue Recognition
Online Advertising
In prior years, online advertising revenue was captioned as listings revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Online
advertising revenue is primarily composed of per-click fees that the Company charges customers. Customers set the per-click fee charged for
inclusion-targeted listings when their account is established. The per-click fee charged for keyword-targeted listings is calculated based on the
results of online bidding on keywords or page content, up to a maximum cost per keyword or page content set by the customer.
Revenues associated with online advertising products, including LookListings, Furl, FindArticles, the Company’s vertical search sites,
and banner advertisements are generally recognized once collectibility is established, delivery of services has occurred, all performance
obligations have been satisfied, and no refund obligations exist. The Company pays distribution network partners based on click-throughs on
the advertiser’s online advertising products that are displayed on the websites of these distribution network partners. These payments are called
traffic acquisition costs. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 99-19, Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal Versus Net
as an Agent (“EITF 99-19”), the revenue derived from these arrangements that involve traffic supplied by distribution network partners is
reported gross of the payment to the distribution network partners. This revenue is reported gross due to the fact that the Company is the
primary obligor to the advertisers who are the customers of the advertising service.
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Affiliate revenue is included in online advertising revenue and is based on commissions received for participation in affiliate programs.
Affiliate programs are programs operated by affiliate network services or online merchants, in which merchants pay traffic providers on a costper-acquisition basis. By participating in affiliate programs, the Company generates revenues when Internet consumers make a purchase from a
participating merchant’s web site after clicking on the merchant’s listing in the Company’s search results. Revenues from affiliates are earned
on a per-sale basis or as a percentage of sales rather than a per-click basis. Revenue is recognized in the period in which a merchant finalizes a
sale and reports to the Company via its affiliate network.
The Company also enters into agreements to provide private-labeled versions of its products, including the AdCenter and Furl products.
These arrangements include multiple elements such as upfront fees, license fees, and revenue-share based on the publishers’ customer’s
monthly revenue. The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 104, Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements (“SAB 104”), and Financial Accounting Standards Board Emerging Issues Task Force
No. 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables (“EITF 00-21”). The Company recognizes upfront fees over the term of the
arrangement or the expected period of performance, license fees over the term of the license, and revenue-share portions over the period in
which such revenue is earned. In all cases, revenue is recognized only when the price is fixed or determinable, persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, the service is performed, and collectibility of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.
The Company also recognizes revenue from the sale of its Net Nanny software product. Software revenue is recognized upon shipment,
provided pervasive evidence of arrangement exists, price is fixed and determinable, collection is determined to be probable and no significant
obligations remain on the Company’s part. Revenue from distributors is subject to agreements allowing certain rights of return. Accordingly,
recognized revenue is reduced by estimated future returns at the time the related revenue is recorded. The estimates for returns are adjusted
periodically based upon historical rates of returns, inventory levels in the distribution channel and other related factors. The Company records
royalties when customers ship products incorporating the Company’s software, provided collection of such revenue is deemed probable.
Revenue for products sold on a subscription basis is recognized ratably over the subscription period.
The Company provides a provision against revenue for estimated reductions resulting from billing adjustments and product returns. The
amounts of these provisions are evaluated periodically based upon customer experience and historical trends.
Deferred revenue is recorded when payments are received in advance of performance in underlying agreements. Customer deposits are
recorded when customers make prepayments for online advertising.
Included in total revenue is revenue from the sale of advertising on our vertical search products. This revenue was less than 10% of total
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2005.
Licensing
Revenues associated with the Company’s former licensing agreement with Microsoft were recognized in the period in which URLs were
added to the database and the database was delivered to Microsoft. The Company did not recognize any license revenue related to Microsoft in
2005.
Traffic Acquisition Costs
The Company enters into agreements of varying durations with its distribution network partners that display the Company’s listings ads
on their sites in return for a percentage of the revenue-per-click that the Company
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receives when the ads are clicked on those partners’ sites. The Company also enters into agreements of varying durations with third party
affiliates that integrate the Company’s pay-for-performance search service into their Web sites. There are generally three economic structures
of the affiliate agreements: guaranteed fixed payments which often carry reciprocal performance guarantees from the affiliate, variable
payments based on a percentage of the Company’s revenue or based on a certain metric, such as number of searches or paid clicks, or a
combination of the two.
The Company expenses, as cost of revenues, traffic acquisition costs under two methods; agreements with fixed payments are expensed
pro-rata over the term the fixed payment covers, and agreements based on a percentage of revenue, number of paid introductions, number of
searches, or other metrics are expensed based on the volume of the underlying activity or revenue, multiplied by the agreed-upon price or rate.
Stock-Based Compensation
Through December 31, 2005, the Company accounted for stock-based employee compensation under the recognition and measurement
principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”) and related interpretations.
Under APB 25, compensation cost is equal to the difference, if any, on the date of grant between the fair value of the Company’s stock and the
amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-based
Compensation (“SFAS 123”) established accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
employee compensation plans. As allowed by SFAS 123, the Company has elected to continue to apply the intrinsic value based method of
accounting described above, and has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 and related Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure (“SFAS 148”).
The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation (in thousands, except per share data):
Year Ended December 31,
2005

2004

2003

Net income (loss) as reported
Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net income
(loss), net of related tax effects
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair
value method for ESPP, net of tax
Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair
value method for stock options, net of tax

$(17,797)

$ (9,638)

$ 5,786

(2,144)

(4,718)

(18,126)

Pro forma net loss

$(19,982)

$(14,202)

$(11,330)

Net income (loss) per share:
Basic—as reported
Basic—pro forma
Diluted—as reported
Diluted—pro forma

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
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—

154

1,010

(41)

—

—

(0.78)
(0.88)
(0.78)
(0.88)

(0.43)
(0.64)
(0.43)
(0.64)

0.28
(0.55)
0.27
(0.52)
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The fair value of each option grant and Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) award, is estimated on the date of the grant using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:
Year Ended December 31,

Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected lives of stock options (years)
Expected lives of ESPP awards (years)
Expected dividend yield

2005

2004

2003

97%
4.19%
4.5
0.5
—

70%
3.43%
5.0
—
—

126%
2.97%
4.4
—
—

The weighted average fair value for options granted was $3.37, $9.80 and $11.30 for 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively. The fair value
of options granted to independent contractors has been determined using the Black-Scholes model with the same assumptions as options
granted to employees, except the expected option life, which was the duration of the consulting agreement.
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are charged to sales and marketing expenses as incurred and amounted to $0.4 million, $0.2 million, and $0.3 million
for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Product Development Costs
Research and development of new product ideas and enhancements to existing products are charged to expense as incurred.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the liability method in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“SFAS 109”). Under this method, deferred tax liabilities and assets are determined based on the
difference between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected
to be realized.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
The Company has adopted the accounting treatment prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, Comprehensive
Income (“SFAS 130”). Items of comprehensive income that the Company currently reports are unrealized gains and losses on marketable
securities categorized as available-for-sale and foreign currency translation adjustments.
Net Income (Loss) Per Share
Statement of Financial Standards No. 128, Earnings per Share (“SFAS 128”), establishes standards for computing and presenting net
income (loss) per share. Basic net income (loss) per share is calculated using the weighted average shares of common stock outstanding.
Diluted net income (loss) per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common and potentially dilutive common shares
outstanding during the period, using the treasury stock method for stock options and warrants.
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Segment Information
In 2003, the Company had two operating segments: online advertising and licensing. As of January 1, 2004, the Company changed to one
operating segment, online advertising, due to the expiration of the Company’s only licensing agreement with Microsoft in January of 2004.
With the exception of accounts receivable, deferred revenue and goodwill, information (for the purposes of making decisions about
allocating resources) available to the chief operating decision makers of the Company, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer, did not include allocations of assets and liabilities or operating costs to the Company’s segments in 2003.
As of December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, all of the Company’s accounts receivable, intangible assets, goodwill and deferred
revenue related to the online advertising segment. All of the Company’s revenues included in continuing operations were generated in the
United States. See Note 16 (Discontinued Operations) regarding foreign revenue reported as discontinued operations. All long-lived assets are
located in the United States.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154
Accounting Changes and Error Corrections—a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3 (“SFAS 154”). SFAS 154
replaces Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes (“APB 20”), and Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
3, Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements (“SFAS 3”), and changes the requirements for the accounting for and
reporting of a change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle. It also applies to changes
required by an accounting pronouncement in the unusual instance that the pronouncement does not include specific transition provisions. When
a pronouncement includes specific transition provisions, those provisions should be followed. This statement is effective for accounting
changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005.
In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R,which replaces SFAS 123 and supersedes APB 25. SFAS 123R requires the
measurement of all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, using a fair value based method and the
recording of such expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company is required to adopt SFAS 123R beginning
January 1, 2006. The pro forma disclosures previously permitted under SFAS 123 no longer will be an alternative to financial statement
recognition. See Stock-Based Compensation above for the pro forma net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share amounts, for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 as if the Company had used a fair value based method similar to the methods required under SFAS
123R to measure compensation expense for share-based awards. The Company is evaluating the requirements under SFAS 123R including the
fair value model and transition method to select and expects the adoption to have a significant adverse impact on the Consolidated Statements
of Operations and net income (loss) per share.
In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings
Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creations Act of 2004 (“AJCA”) (“FAS 109-2”). The Company does not expect a material
impact on its consolidated results of operations due to the AJCA or implementation of FAS 109-2.
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2.

Acquisitions
The transactions below were recorded using the purchase method of accounting and the operating results of these acquisitions have been
included in the Company’s results of operations since the acquisition dates. The purchase prices have been allocated to assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based on their fair values on the acquisition dates.

Net Nanny
On April 22, 2004, the Company acquired the business and certain assets of Net Nanny, a division of BioNet Systems LLC, a privately
held company, for $850,000 in cash, 394,477 shares of common stock valued at $4.2 million and $27,000 of costs related to completing the
transaction. Net Nanny is a software application that is loaded on a user’s desktop computer and provides online parental control and content
filtering of web search results.
The common stock issued was valued at $10.75 per share in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 99-12,
Determination of the Measurement Date for the Market Price of Acquirer Securities Issued in a Purchase Business Combination (“EITF 9912”) using the average of the closing prices of the Company’s common stock for the two days prior to and including April 22, 2004, which was
prior to the announcement date of April 29, 2004.
Purchased technology and other intangible assets acquired are being amortized over their estimated useful lives of two to six years. The
Consolidated Financial Statements include the operating results of Net Nanny from the date of purchase. Pro forma results of operations have
not been presented because the effect of this acquisition was not material to the results of prior periods presented.
The following table summarizes the purchase price allocation. These amounts were determined through established valuation techniques
in the technology industry (in thousands):
Accounts receivable, net of provisions
Inventory
Purchased technology
Goodwill
Other intangible assets

$ 171
34
510
3,490
940

Total assets acquired
Less: current liability assumed

5,145
34

Net assets acquired

$5,111

Furl.net
During the third quarter of 2004, the Company acquired the assets of Furl.net, which consisted primarily of intangible assets related to
technology, customer lists, trade name and employees. The asset acquisition did not have a significant impact on total assets of the Company.
Grub, Inc.
In January 2003, the Company acquired intellectual property rights from Grub, Inc. and an individual for certain cash payments and the
Company’s common stock. The acquisition did not have a significant impact on total assets of the Company.
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3.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, Short-Term Investments and Long-Term Investments
Cash, cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments consisted of the following as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in
thousands):

December 31, 2005

Unrealized

Unrealized

Estimated Fair

Gains

Losses

Value

Cost

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash

$ 2,013

$

—

$

—

$

2,013

Cash equivalents
Money market mutual funds
Corporate debt securities

376
31,047

—
—

—
—

376
31,047

Total cash equivalents

31,423

—

—

31,423

Total cash and cash equivalents

33,436

—

—

33,436

10,597
5,405
2,000

—
—
—

(106)
(18)
(7)

10,491
5,387
1,993

18,002

—

(131)

17,871

Short-term investments
Corporate debt securities
State and municipal bonds and notes
United States government agency notes
Total short-term investments
Total cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments

$51,438

$

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash

$ 8,776

$

(131)

$

51,307

Unrealized

Unrealized

Estimated Fair

Gains

Losses

Value

Cost

December 31, 2004

—

$

—

$

—

$

8,776

Cash equivalents
Money market mutual funds
Corporate debt securities
United States government agency notes

451
32,039
1,997

—
—
—

—
(1)
—

451
32,038
1,997

Total cash equivalents

34,487

—

(1)

34,486

Total cash and cash equivalents

43,263

—

(1)

43,262

3,696
750
5,000

—
1

(7)
—
—

3,689
751
5,000

1

(7)

9,440

Short-term investments
Corporate debt securities
State and municipal bonds and notes
Equity instruments
Total short-term investments
Long-term investments
Corporate debt securities
State and municipal bonds and notes
Total long-term investments
Total cash, cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments

—

9,446

7,645
3,629

—
—

(58)
(18)

7,587
3,611

11,274

—

(76)

11,198

$63,983

$

1

$

(84)

$

63,900

At December 31, 2005, gross unrealized losses on investments were all in loss positions for less than 12 months.
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Market values were determined for each individual security in the investment portfolio. Any declines in values were primarily related to
changes in interest rates and are considered to be temporary in nature.
At December 31, 2005, all short-term investments were debt securities and the amortized cost and fair value were classified as due within
one year.
4.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Software
Leasehold improvements
Total
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

2005

2004

$ 15,652
1,126
3,334
2,718

$ 21,308
1,251
4,263
2,728

22,830
(17,327)

Property and equipment, net

$ 5,503

29,550
(23,562)
$ 5,988

Cost related to assets under capital lease obligations at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $0 and $0.1 million, respectively. Accumulated
amortization related to assets under capital lease obligations at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was $0 and $0.1 million, respectively.
Depreciation and amortization expense was $3.6 million, $4.5 million, and $4.8 million for 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.
5.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The Company’s intangible assets consist primarily of purchased technology and have estimated useful lives of two to seven years.
Goodwill and intangible assets were as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2005

2004

Goodwill

$14,422

$14,422

Intangible assets
Purchased technology
Less accumulated amortization

$10,179
(6,365)

$ 9,951
(4,614)

Net purchased technology
Trade names
Less accumulated amortization
Net trade names
Other intangibles
Less accumulated amortization

3,814

5,337

1,743
(516)

1,470
(167)

1,227

1,303

2,170
(1,692)

1,921
(1,197)

Net other intangibles

478

724

Intangible assets, net

$ 5,519

$ 7,364
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During the third quarter of 2005, the Company revised its estimate of the remaining useful life of one of the intangibles assets, which
resulted in an accelerated amortization of $0.2 million.
Intangible asset amortization expense was $2.5 million, $1.9 million, and $1.8 million for 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively and was
primarily in product development costs. There was no goodwill amortization for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, or 2003.
Estimated future intangible amortization expense is as follows (in thousands):
Estimated Remaining
Amortization of Intangibles
Year

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter
Total
6.

$

2,166
1,744
1,236
344
29
—

$

5,519

Other Accrued Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31,

Accrued compensation and related expenses
Accrued distribution and partner costs
Accrued professional service fees
Customer refunds
Accrued equipment purchases
Other
Total
7.

2005

2004

$1,487
1,936
723
82
343
294

$1,932
3,428
658
148
—
418

$4,865

$6,584

Notes Payable
Future principal payments under notes payable at December 31, 2005 are as follows (in thousands):
Principal
Payments

Interest
Payments

$

52
58
63
63
—
—

$

19
14
9
3
—
—

$

236

$

45

Year

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
Thereafter
Total
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In January 2000, the Company issued an unsecured promissory note in the principal amount of $472,000 to its landlord to finance tenant
improvements. The note bears interest at 9% per annum and is payable in equal monthly installments over a term of 10 years. As of
December 31, 2005, the balance of this note was $236,000.
8.

Income Taxes
The Company was in a net loss position in 2005 and 2004. The income tax provision for 2005, 2004, and 2003 relates to minimum state
tax, federal alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) and revisions of prior years’ estimated taxes.
The primary components of the net deferred tax asset are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,

Deferred tax asset:
Net operating losses
Depreciation and amortization
Accruals and reserves
Compensation
Total deferred tax assets
Less: valuation allowance

2005

2004

$ 66,229
6,798
3,019
498

$ 55,569
6,927
3,671
106

76,544
(76,544)

Deferred tax asset, net

$

—

66,273
(66,273)
$

—

As of December 31, 2005, the Company has net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards of approximately $175.0 million and $115.0
million for federal and state purposes, respectively. The Company also has an AMT credit carryforward of approximately $100,000. The NOL
carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in 2006 through 2025, if not utilized. The AMT tax credit carryforward may be carried
forward indefinitely. Included in the NOL carryforwards are losses resulting from the exercise of stock options totaling $46.0 million and $24.0
million for federal and state purposes, respectively.
A valuation allowance existed as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 due to the uncertainty of net operating loss utilization based on the
Company’s history of losses. The valuation allowance increased by $10.3 million, $2.4 million, and $2.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.
The difference between the Company’s effective income tax rate and the federal statutory rate is reconciled below:
Year Ended December 31,
2005

Federal statutory rate
Permanent differences
State taxes, including permanent differences
Change in valuation allowance
Other

34.0%
(2.8)
—
(31.3)
0.1

Total

— %
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2004

34.0%
(6.4)
0.1
(21.6)
(7.1)
(1.0)%

2003

34.0%
10.1
0.1
(43.5)
3.9
4.6%
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9.

Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
The Company leases office space under a non-terminable operating lease that expires in 2009.

Future minimum payments under this operating lease and minimum sublease rental income, at December 31, 2005 are as follows (in
thousands):
Operating

Minimum Sublease

Lease

Rental Income

Year
2006
2007
2008
2009
Thereafter
Total

$ 4,616
4,684
4,751
4,412
—

$

530
421
444
390
—

$ 18,463

$

1,785

Rent expense under all operating leases for 2005, 2004, and 2003, amounted to $3.9 million, $4.0 million, and $3.8 million (net of
sublease income of $0.6 million, $0.6 million, and $0.9 million), respectively. Rent expense is net of lease restructuring adjustments related to
certain leased facilities. See Note 13 (Restructuring Charges). Under the terms of the office lease agreement for the Company’s headquarters,
the Company has two consecutive options to extend the term, each for a five-year period.
The Company has outstanding standby letters of credit (“SBLC”) related to security of building leases and security for payroll processing
services of $1.3 million at December 31, 2005. The SBLC contains four financial covenants. These include a minimum tangible net worth of
$40.0 million, a minimum amount of liquid assets of $40.0 million, no more than $8.0 million loss in any fiscal quarter, and no more than
$25.0 million loss in any rolling four-quarter period. As of December 31, 2005, the Company was in compliance with all required covenants.
Guarantees and Indemnities
During its normal course of business, the Company has made certain guarantees, indemnities and commitments under which it may be
required to make payments in relation to certain transactions. These indemnities include intellectual property and other indemnities to the
Company’s customers and distribution network partners in connection with the sales of its products, and indemnities to various lessors in
connection with facility leases for certain claims arising from such facility or lease. Further, the Company has agreements whereby it
indemnifies its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the officer or director is, or was, serving, at the Company’s
request, in such capacity, to the maximum extent permitted under the laws of the State of Delaware. The maximum potential amount of future
payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited. However, the Company maintains
directors and officers insurance coverage that may contribute up to certain limits, a portion of any future amounts paid, for indemnification of
directors and officers. The Company believes the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements in excess of applicable insurance
coverage is minimal. Historically, the Company has not incurred any losses or recorded any liabilities related to performance under these types
of indemnities.
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Legal Proceedings
The Company is involved, from time to time, in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities. Although
the results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company does not expect resolution of these matters to have a
material adverse impact on its consolidated results of operations, cash flows or financial position. However, an unfavorable resolution of a
matter could, depending on its amount and timing, materially affect its future results of operations, cash flows or financial position in a future
period. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on the Company because of defense costs, diversion of management
resources and other factors.
Cisneros v. Yahoo!, Inc
On August 3, 2004, Mario Cisneros and Michael Voight filed a private attorney general lawsuit on behalf of a proposed class in Superior
Court in San Francisco County, California. The complaint names thirteen search engines or Web publishers as defendants, including the
Company, and alleges unfair business practices, unlawful business practices, and other causes of action in connection with the display of
advertisements from Internet gambling companies. The complaint seeks restitution, unspecified compensatory damages, declaratory and
injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees. Plaintiffs also filed a motion for preliminary injunction on August 3, 2004.
On January 3, 2005, the Company filed a demurrer to the complaint, which was overruled on January 27, 2005. On January 3, 2005, the
Company also filed a motion to strike certain allegations regarding claims for restitution, which was denied in part and granted in part on
May 9, 2005. The Company filed an answer to the complaint on February 28, 2005, consisting of a general denial of all allegations. On
October 11, 2005, the court conducted a trail on two of the Company’s affirmative defenses. The court held that California public policy bars
the plaintiffs from receiving a portion of their requested damages.
On December 2, 2005, plaintiffs filed a renewed motion for a preliminary injunction. Defendants’ response is due on February 27, 2005.
A case management conference is scheduled for March 16, 2006, at which time the court will set a hearing schedule for plaintiffs renewed
motion. The court has allowed certain discovery to proceed with respect to plaintiffs’ renewed motion.
At this point in time, the Company does not have sufficient information to assess the validity of the complaint or the amount of potential
damages.
Lane’s Gifts and Collectibles, L.L.C., v. Yahoo! Inc
On March 14, 2005 the Company was served with the Second Amended Complaint in a class action lawsuit in the Circuit Court of Miller
County, Arkansas. The complaint names eleven search engines and Web publishers as defendants, including the Company, and alleges breach
of contract, restitution/unjust enrichment/money had and received, and civil conspiracy claims in connection with contracts allegedly entered
into with plaintiffs for Internet pay-per-click advertising. The named plaintiffs on the Second Amended Complaint are Lane’s Gifts and
Collectibles, L.L.C., U.S. Citizens for Fair Credit Card Terms, Inc., Savings 4 Merchants, Inc., and Max Caulfield d/b/a Caulfield
Investigations.
On March 30, 2005 the case was removed to United States District Court for the Western District of Arkansas. On April 4, 2005 plaintiffs
U.S. Citizens for Fair Credit Card Terms, Inc. and Savings 4 Merchants, Inc. filed a motion of voluntary dismissal without prejudice. The
motion was granted on April 7, 2005. Plaintiffs Lane’s Gifts and Collectibles, L.L.C. and Max Caulfield d/b/a Caulfield Investigations filed a
motion to remand the case to state court on April 13, 2005, which was granted in June 2005. In July 2005, defendants, including the
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Company, petitioned the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals for an appeal of the remand order, and moved to stay the proceedings while the
appeal is pending. The petition was denied on September 8, 2005 and the case was remanded to the Circuit Court of Miller County, Arkansas.
The Company was served with discovery requests on October 7, 2005. The Company has filed and/or joined motions to dismiss on the basis of
failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, lack of personal jurisdiction, and improper venue. Pursuant to the court’s initial
scheduling order, plaintiffs had until January 27, 2006 to respond to the motions to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction and improper
venue; and until June 9, 2006 to respond to the motion to dismiss on the basis of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.
However the court entered an order staying all proceedings for a period of 60 days on January 9, 2006. On March 8, 2006, the Court entered an
order extending the stay until March 31, 2006.
At this point in time, the Company does not have sufficient information to assess the validity of the complaint or the amount of potential
damages.
JV Funding
Pursuant to a settlement agreement with British Telecommunications (“BT”) for the dissolution of the joint venture, LookSmart and BT
are jointly liable for the costs incurred to shut down operations of the joint venture. The Company does not expect to incur significant
additional expenses to shut down the joint venture.
10.

Stockholders’ Equity
At a meeting of stockholders on October 26, 2005, the Company’s stockholders considered a proposal to approve a series of amendments
to the Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation to effect a reverse stock split of the Company’s common stock whereby, at the
discretion of the Board of Directors, each outstanding three, five or seven shares of its common stock would be combined into and become one
share of common stock. Following shareholder approval, the Board of Directors selected the split ratio to be one-for-five. The Company filed a
Certificate of Amendment to its Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Delaware Secretary of State to effect the reverse
stock split. The reverse stock split became effective at the close of business on October 26, 2005.
Convertible Preferred Stock
The Company’s charter authorizes the board of directors to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of $0.001 par value preferred stock. At
December 31, 2005, no shares of preferred stock were issued or outstanding.
Warrants

In October 2000, the Company acquired Zeal Media, Inc (“Zeal”) and assumed warrants to purchase 4,237 shares of common stock at
$45.20 per share in connection with the acquisition. As of December 31, 2005, all of these warrants had expired. The fair value of the warrants
was recorded as part of the purchase price of Zeal.
Chess Depositary Interests
On February 25, 2000, the Company completed the listing of approximately 90 million Chess Depositary Interests, or CDIs, on the
Australian Stock Exchange, or ASX, under the trading symbol “LOK”. The Company completed the listing in order to enable investors that
prefer to invest in ASX-listed companies to acquire an equity interest in LookSmart. All of the shares of LookSmart common stock
exchangeable for the CDIs were offered by selling stockholders. The Company did not issue any new securities in connection with, or receive
any proceeds from, the listing of the CDIs. In November 2004, the Company completed a 20 for 1 consolidation of
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the CDIs listed on the Australian Stock Exchange. A total of 282 million CDIs were exchanged for 14 million CDI’s as a result of the
consolidation. At December 31, 2005, each CDI was freely exchangeable with shares of LookSmart common stock at the option of the holder
at a ratio of 1:1. The number of CDIs outstanding as of December 31, 2005 was 1,939,544.
Stock-Based Compensation
In connection with the grant of certain stock options to employees and members of the Board of Directors and in connection with certain
acquisitions, the Company recorded stock compensation expense as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2005

2004
2003

Amortization of deferred stock compensation
Stock compensation related to modified options
Stock compensation related to variable options

$ 38
—
(38)

$ 77
67
10

$

819
—
191

Total stock-based compensation

$—

$ 154

$ 1,010

Stock Option Plans
In December 1997, the Company approved the 1998 Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”). In October 2000, the Company acquired Zeal and
assumed all the stock options outstanding under the 1999 Zeal Media, Inc. Stock Plan (the “Zeal Plan”). In April 2002, the Company acquired
WiseNut, Inc. and assumed all the stock options outstanding under the WiseNut, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (the “WiseNut Plan”). The
Company has reserved 4,157,611, and 4,184,021 shares of common stock for issuance under its stock option plans at December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004, respectively. Outstanding stock options generally become exercisable over a three or four year period from the grant date
and have a term of ten years. Under the Plan, the Company may grant incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options and stock purchase
rights to employees, directors and consultants.
In February 2001, the Company offered an exchange of options to certain option holders under the Plan. The option holders were allowed
to exchange their existing options for options with a lower exercise price of $12.50 per share and were required to surrender certain
supplemental options granted in 2000 (the “Special Options”). The terms and conditions of the new options are the same as those under the
Plan, except that the option terms expired in December 2005 and the options are nonqualified. A total of 1,082,172 options, ranging in price
from $22.66 - $342.19 per share, were cancelled and reissued under this offer and are considered variable options. A total of 460,547 Special
Options ranging in price from $30.78 - $215.00 were surrendered and cancelled without reissuance. Under the provisions of FASB
Interpretation No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation: An Interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25 (“FIN
44”), options that were granted within six months of these cancelled options must be accounted for as variable options (the “Variable
Options”). A total of 153,486 Variable Options at exercise prices ranging from $3.40 –$12.50 per share were granted within six months of this
cancellation. The effect of the Variable Options on the Company’s financial statements varies and depends upon the price of the Company’s
common stock on the last trading day of each fiscal quarter. As of December 31, 2005, 27,438 Variable Options remained outstanding.
As of December 31, 2005, 1,823,814 options were outstanding and 2,333,797 shares remained available for grant under the Company’s
plans.
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Stock option activity under the plans during the periods indicated is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):
Weighted Average
Outstanding Options

Exercise Price Per

Number of Shares

Share

Balance at December 31, 2002
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled

3,668
1,190
(965)
(447)

$
$
$
$

8.00
13.65
6.65
10.50

Balance at December 31, 2003
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled

3,446
922
(750)
(1,653)

$
$
$
$

10.00
9.85
5.85
11.70

Balance at December 31, 2004
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled

1,965
932
(27)
(1,046)

$
$
$
$

10.15
3.81
3.45
9.42

Balance at December 31, 2005

1,824

$

7.31

The Company accounts for employee stock options under APB 25 and related interpretations. For 2005, 2004, and 2003, the Company
recorded deferred compensation of $0, $0.1 million, and $0.2 million, respectively, for stock option grants related to the options assumed in
acquisitions.
The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2005 (in thousands, except per share data):
Options Outstanding

Number
Outstanding
Range of Exercise Prices

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life
(in Years)

Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Number
Exercisable

Average
Exercise
Price

$1.25–$3.10
$3.15–$5.35
$5.80–$7.90
$8.65–$8.65
$8.85–$85.31

374
397
245
376
432

9.46
9.19
7.90
8.82
8.01

$
$
$
$
$

3.08
4.22
6.85
8.65
12.90

82
131
163
128
259

$
$
$
$
$

3.00
4.30
6.84
8.65
13.65

$1.25–$85.31

1,824

8.72

$ 7.31

763

$ 8.61

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, there were 952,980 and 1,480,710 options exercisable, respectively.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In July 1999, the stockholders approved the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP Plan”). At December 31, 2005, a total of
440,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the ESPP Plan, plus annual increases on January 1 of each year, beginning
in 2000. As of December 31, 2005, 396,001 shares have been issued under the ESPP Plan and 43,999 shares remain available for issuance.
61

Table of Contents
LOOKSMART, LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
11.

Other Equity
Other equity consists of the following (in thousands):
December 31,
2005

2004

2003

Unearned stock-based compensation
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities, net
Translation adjustments

$—
(131)
517

$ (38)
(84)
517

$(107)
1
879

Total other equity

$ 386

$ 395

$ 773

12.

Net Income (Loss) per Share
In accordance with the requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, Earnings per Share (“SFAS 128”), a
reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share is provided as follows (in thousands, except
per share amounts):
Year Ended December 31,

Numerator—Basic and diluted:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations before extraordinary gain

2005

2004

2003

$(17,907)

$(11,043)

$ 7,307

22,765

22,266

20,739

Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Shares used to compute basic net income (loss) per share
Dilutive common equivalent shares:
Options
Warrants

—
—

Shares used to compute diluted net income (loss) per share
Net income (loss) from continuing operations before extraordinary gain per
share:
Basic
Diluted

—
—

22,765

$
$

(0.79)
(0.79)

1,008
1

22,266

$
$

(0.49)
(0.49)

21,748

$
$

0.35
0.34

Options and warrants to purchase common stock are not included in the diluted income (loss) per share calculations if their effect is
antidilutive. The antidilutive securities included potential common stock relating to stock options for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003 were 68,181, 310,173 and 0, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, 1,274,104, 958,792 and 711,666, respectively, common equivalent shares
related to outstanding stock options and warrants have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net income (loss) per share as their
respective exercise prices were more than the average market value for the respective periods.
13. Restructuring Charges
Employee Severance Costs
In November 2003, the Company implemented a restructuring plan to eliminate 77 positions in the United States due to the loss of the
ongoing arrangement with Microsoft. The severance charges associated with the reduction in force were $0.8 million.
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In the first and the second quarters of 2004, the Company eliminated an additional 43 positions in the United States, which included a
reduction in its sales force of 11 positions, a reduction in its general and administrative departments of five positions, a reduction in its product
development department of 14 positions and a reduction in its editorial team of 13 positions. This reduction resulted in $1.0 million
restructuring charges recognized in 2004, which are included in operating expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. All
severance costs were paid by December 31, 2004. No restructuring charges related to employee severance costs were incurred in 2005.
Lease Restructuring Costs
In connection with the restructuring activities noted above, the Company closed certain leased facilities and incurred lease restructuring
costs related to closing these facilities of $3.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2003 and costs related to closing of further redundant leased
facilities of $3.2 million in the first quarter of 2004. These costs are classified as restructuring charges on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations, and are included in operating expenses. The lease restructuring liability is amortized using the interest method through the life of
the lease, which terminates in 2009.
As of December 31, 2004 the restructuring liability was $5.7 million. Of this amount, $1.3 million was included in current portion of
long-term liabilities and $4.4 million was included in other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
During the first half of 2005, the Company had limited success in subleasing its unused space since the establishment of the restructuring
liability, and modified its original estimates. This resulted in additional restructuring charges of $1.9 million in the second quarter of 2005,
reflecting the reduced probability of subleasing the available space. However in October 2005, the Company and one of its sublessees executed
a letter of intent to sublease an additional portion of the unused space, which resulted in a reduction of the restructuring liability by $0.3
million, which was recorded in the third quarter of 2005. Further, in February 2006, the Company and another sublessee executed a letter of
intent to sublease an additional portion of the unused space, which resulted in a further reduction of the restructuring liability by $0.6 million,
which was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2005.
As of December 31, 2005, the lease restructuring liability was $5.4 million. Of this amount, $1.5 million was included in current portion
of long-term liabilities and $3.9 million was included in other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
The Company does not currently expect to incur significant further restructuring charges or receive additional benefits related to closing
redundant leased facilities in 2006 as it has sublet most of its unused space. However, if the letter of intent that the Company has signed with its
sublessee does not result in an executed sublease agreement, it may be required to further adjust its restructuring liability.
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The following table sets forth restructuring activity during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):
Employee

Total 2003 restructuring charges
Reclassification of deferred rent

Severance

Lease
Restructuring

Costs

Costs

$

977
—

$

3,161
165

Total

$ 4,138
165

Balance at December 31, 2003
Adjustments
Additional restructuring costs
Reclassification of deferred rent
Amortization of lease restructuring costs
Cash payments

977
76
1,061
—
—
(2,114)

3,326
—
3,191
185
(1,040)
—

4,303
76
4,252
185
(1,040)
(2,114)

Balance at December 31, 2004
Additional restructuring costs
Amortization of lease restructuring costs

—
—
—

5,662
1,024
(1,288)

5,662
1,024
(1,288)

Balance at December 31, 2005

$

—

$

5,398

$ 5,398

14.

Related Party Transactions
In December 2002, the Company and British Telecommunications agreed to dissolve their equal interest joint venture, BT LookSmart,
which was established in 2000. In the first quarter of 2003, as part of the dissolution of the joint venture, BT LookSmart transferred ownership
of its directories and of its European and Japanese subsidiaries to LookSmart. The Company received net assets of $0.2 million along with the
ongoing operating and revenue-generating relationships contained in these entities as part of the dissolution and settlement for nominal
consideration. In connection with the acquisition of the joint venture entities, the Company recorded an extraordinary gain, net of tax, of $0.2
million, which represents the fair value of net assets the Company recorded in excess of the consideration paid upon the acquisition.

The Company has a related-party receivable from the BT LookSmart joint venture. In 2004, the Company recorded a valuation
adjustment to the net receivable from the joint venture of $0.1 million based on revised estimates of net realizable value. The remaining
investment balance at December 31, 2005 is $0.3 million, which reflects the estimated value upon final liquidation of the joint venture.
15.

Employee Benefit Plan
The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan covering all eligible employees. Employees may contribute amounts ranging from 1% to 50%
of annual salary, up to the maximum limits established by the Internal Revenue Service. The Company matches these contributions in cash up
to 5% of annual salary up to a total match of $3,000 per year. Employees vest 100% immediately in their own contributions and 50% per year
in Company matching contributions. Any employer contributions that are not vested are forfeited if an employee leaves the Company, but are
reinstated if the employee returns to service within five years. The Company made matching contributions totaling $0.3 million, $0.6 million,
and $1.1 million for 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.
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16.

Discontinued Operations
In January 2004, the Company agreed to sell certain of the assets of its Australian subsidiary and related intellectual property rights to a
subsidiary of Telstra Corporation Limited for approximately $0.7 million. In March 2004, the Company agreed to sell certain of the assets of its
Japanese subsidiary and related intellectual property rights to Value Commerce for approximately $0.7 million. In March 2004, the Company
agreed to sell certain assets of its United Kingdom subsidiary and related intellectual property rights to Crystal for approximately $0.1 million.
The gain on disposal of the operations of $1.0 million is shown net of $0.4 million for transitional expenses.
In 2005, the Company recognized an additional gain of $0.1 million related to additional disposal activities and an increased tax benefit.
Revenue and pretax net income (loss) from the discontinued international operations (excluding gain on disposal), previously included in
the online advertising segment of the business, reported in discontinued operations were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2005

Revenue

$—

Pretax net income (loss) (excluding gain on disposal)
Tax impact
Gain on disposal

—
67
43

Net gain (loss) from discontinued operations

$110

2004

2003

$6,036

$21,397

407
(25)
1,023
$1,405

(1,501)
(222)
—
$ (1,723)

The components of net assets related to the discontinued operations were as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2005

2004

Current assets
Current liabilities

$

199
—

$

645
(96)

Net assets of discontinued operations

$

199

$

549

17.

Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
The following tables set forth certain unaudited statements of operations data for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2005. This data
has been derived from the unaudited interim financial statements prepared on the same basis as the audited Consolidated Financial Statements
contained in this Annual Report and, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments consisting only of normal recurring adjustments
that are considered necessary for a fair statement of such information when read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and
Notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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The table below presents quarterly data for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 (in thousands, except per share data):
Fourth
Quarter*

Third
Quarter*

Second
Quarter*

First
Quarter*

2005
Revenues
Gross profit
Loss from operations
Loss from continuing operations before extraordinary gain
Gain from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net loss
Basic net loss per share
Diluted net loss per share

$ 9,968
$ 3,362
$ (4,252)
$ (3,772)
$ —
$ (3,772)
$ (0.16)
$ (0.16)

$ 9,165
$ 3,062
$ (4,944)
$ (4,269)
$ —
$ (4,269)
$ (0.19)
$ (0.19)

$10,225
$ 3,605
$ (5,859)
$ (5,444)
$
28
$ (5,416)
$ (0.24)
$ (0.24)

$12,001
$ 3,709
$ (4,898)
$ (4,422)
$
82
$ (4,340)
$ (0.19)
$ (0.19)

2004
Revenues
Gross profit
Loss from operations
Loss from continuing operations before extraordinary gain
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss)
Basic net income (loss) per share
Diluted net income (loss) per share

$16,525
$ 6,134
$ (2,007)
$ (1,550)
$ 259
$ (1,291)
$ (0.04)
$ (0.04)

$17,490
$ 7,927
$ (657)
$ (547)
$ 562
$
15
$ 0.00
$ 0.00

$19,131
$ 8,128
$ (2,329)
$ (2,277)
$ 1,040
$ (1,237)
$ (0.06)
$ (0.06)

$23,850
$10,027
$ (6,764)
$ (6,669)
$ (456)
$ (7,125)
$ (0.33)
$ (0.33)

* Adjusted for the effects of a one-for-five reverse split of the Company’s common stock effective October 26, 2005.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, the Company conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). Based on this evaluation, our principal executive
officer and our principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period
covered by this Annual Report.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
During the course of our general evaluation of our internal controls and our 2005 close process, four significant deficiencies in the design
and operation of our internal controls were identified. We have addressed and are now in the process of remediating such deficiencies.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO) and concluded that we maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.
Our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Please see the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting under Item 8 of
this Form 10-K, which report is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s definitive proxy statement relating to the
2006 annual meeting of stockholders (the “2006 Proxy Statement”), which the Company intends to file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission within 120 days of the end of the Company’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required under this item may be found in the 2006 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required under this item may be found in the 2006 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
The information required under this item may be found in the 2006 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required under this item may be found in the 2006 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS
AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)(1) Financial Statements . The following are filed as part of Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
(2)

39
40
41
42
43
37

Financial Schedules. Schedule II “Valuation and Qualifying Accounts” appears below. All other schedules for which provision is
made in the applicable accounting regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission have been omitted because the
information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is shown in our Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thereto.
The financial statement schedule below should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(In thousands)
Balance at
Charged to
Beginning
Description

of Period

Year ended December 31, 2003:
Allowance for doubtful accounts and returns
Deferred tax valuation allowance

$ 2,962
61,459

Total
Year ended December 31, 2004:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for returns
Deferred tax valuation allowance
Total
Year ended December 31, 2005:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Allowance for returns
Deferred tax valuation allowance
Total
(b)

Costs and
Expenses

$

—
2,382

Balance at
Deductions

$

458
—

$ 2,504
63,841

64,421

2,382

458

66,345

1,927
577
63,841

—
—
2,432

1,430
(388)
—

497
965
66,273

66,345

2,432

1,042

67,735

497
965
66,273

100
(18)
10,271

357
933
—

240
14
76,544

$ 1,290

$ 76,798

$ 67,735

$ 10,353

Exhibits. The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index (following the Signatures section of this report) are included, or
incorporated by reference, in this Annual Report.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized in San Francisco, California, on March 15, 2006:
LOOKSMART, LTD.
By:

/s/

J OHN S IMONELLI

John Simonelli, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints David B.
Hills and John Simonelli, jointly and severally, as his or her attorneys-in-fact, each with the full power of substitution, for him or her, in any
and all capacities, to sign any amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents
in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting to said attorneys-in-fact, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact or any of them, or their or his
or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of
1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
Signature

/s/

D AVID B. H ILLS

Title

Date

Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executive Officer)

March 15, 2006

Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 15, 2006

Chair of the Board

March 15, 2006

Director

March 15, 2006

Director

March 15, 2006

Director

March 15, 2006

Director

March 15, 2006

Director

March 15, 2006

David B. Hills
/s/

J OHN S IMONELLI
John Simonelli

/s/

E DWARD W EST
Edward West

/s/

T ERESA D IAL
Teresa Dial

/s/

A NTHONY C ASTAGNA
Anthony Castagna
/s/

M ARK S ANDERS
Mark Sanders

/s/

G ARY A. W ETSEL
Gary A. Wetsel

/s/

T IMOTHY J. W RIGHT
Timothy J. Wright
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Exhibit
Number

3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2

10.1
10.2
10.3
10.7
10.8
10.12

10.34+
10.40‡*
10.41*
10.42+
10.43
10.44
10.45
10.46

Description of Document

Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
November 14, 2005).
Bylaws (Filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 14, 2000).
Form of Specimen Stock Certificate (Filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
November 14, 2005).
Forms of Stock Option Agreement used by the Registrant in connection with grants of stock options to employees, directors
and other service providers in connection with the Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Plan (Filed with the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 22, 2004).
Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between the Registrant and each of its directors and officers (Filed with the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-80581) filed with the SEC on June 14, 1999).
Amended and Restated 1998 Stock Plan (Filed with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-80581)
filed with the SEC on June 14, 1999).
1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan as amended (Filed with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No.
333-129987) filed with the SEC on November 29, 2005).
Zeal Media, Inc. 1999 Stock Plan (Filed with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on
December 7, 2000).
WiseNut, Inc. 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (Filed with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on
April 18, 2002).
Lease Agreement with Rosenberg SOMA Investments III, LLC for property located at 625 Second Street, San Francisco,
California, dated May 5, 1999 (Filed with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-80581) filed with
the SEC on June 14, 1999).
Co-Location Services Agreement between the Registrant and Savvis Communications Corporation dated February 19, 2004
(Filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A filed with the SEC on November 7, 2003).
License Agreement between the Registrant and SearchFeed.com dated November 23, 2003, as Amended on March 29, 2004
and March 21, 2005.
Separation Agreement and General Release between the Registrant and its former General Counsel dated August 20, 2005.
Amendment to the Prioritized Listings Syndication Agreement between the Registrant and Interchange Corporation dated as of
June 30, 2004 (Filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 9, 2004).
Second Amendment to the Prioritized Listings Syndication Agreement between the Registrant and Interchange Corporation
dated as of July 19, 2005 (Filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 9, 2005).
Prioritized Listings Syndication Agreement between the Registrant and ELiberation, Inc., dated as of October 19, 2001. (Filed
with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 9, 2004).
Employment offer letter between the Registrant and its chief executive officer dated September 24, 2004 (Filed with the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 18, 2004).
Letter agreement between the Registrant and its general counsel, dated July 1, 2004 (Filed with the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 26, 2005).
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Exhibit
Number

10.47
10.48
10.50
10.51
10.52
10.53+
10.54+
10.55
10.56
10.57
10.58
10.59
10.60
10.61
10.62
21.1*

Description of Document

Employment offer letter between the Registrant and its senior vice president, consumer products, dated December 23, 2004
(Filed with the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 30, 2004).
Employment offer letter between the Registrant and its senior vice president, sales, dated November 19, 2004 (Filed with the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 14, 2004).
Separation agreement between the Registrant and its former interim chief executive officer, dated November 12, 2004 (Filed
with the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 14, 2004).
Separation agreement between the Registrant and its former vice president, human resources, dated August 3, 2004 (Filed with
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 16, 2005).
Separation agreement between the Registrant and its former senior vice president, product, dated August 8, 2004 (Filed with the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 16, 2005).
Prioritized Listings Syndication Agreement between the Registrant and Search123, Inc. dated August 21, 2001 (Filed with the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 16, 2005).
Amendment No. 2 to the Prioritized Listings Syndication Agreement between the Registrant and Search123, Inc. dated February
8, 2005. (Filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 10, 2005).
Amendment No. 3 to the Prioritized Listings Syndication Agreement between the Registrant and Search123, Inc. dated June 24,
2005 (Filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 9, 2005).
Employment offer letter between the Registrant and its Senior Vice President, Business Development dated April 18, 2005 (Filed
with the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 19, 2005).
Employment offer letter between the Registrant and its Senior Vice President and Chief Technology Officer dated April 18, 2005
(Filed with the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 19, 2005).
Amendment to employment offer letter between the Registrant and its Chief Executive Officer dated June 21, 2005 (Filed with
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 21, 2005).
Employment offer letter between the Registrant and its General Counsel and Senior Vice President dated as of July 11, 2005
(Filed with the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 14, 2005).
Employment offer letter between the Registrant and its Vice President, Publisher Products dated as of August 8, 2005 (Filed with
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 10, 2005).
Employment offer letter between the Registrant and its Chief Financial Officer dated October 20, 2005 (Filed with the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 24, 2005).
Employment offer letter between the Registrant and its Vice President, Marketing dated as of December 4, 2005 (Filed with the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 23, 2005).
List of Subsidiaries
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23.1*
24.1
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*
(*)
(‡)
(+)

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Power of Attorney (please see the signature page of this report)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Filed herewith
Material in the exhibit marked with a “‡” has been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been granted with respect to portions of the exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.
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Exhibit 10.40
LICENSE AGREEMENT
This License Agreement (“ Agreement ”) is entered into as of the 7 th day of November, 2003 (the “ Effective Date ”), by and
between SearchFeed.com, a New Jersey corporation (“ Partner”) and LookSmart, Ltd., a Delaware corporation (“ LookSmart ”).
RECITALS
The parties wish to provide for a license to Partner to distribute LookSmart’s Search Results on the Partner Network.
NOW, therefore, for good and adequate consideration, the receipt of which is acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
1. DEFINITIONS
1.1 “ Click ” occurs when a bona fide Internet user (which excludes a robot, spider, software, scraper or other mechanical, artificial
or fraudulent means, or a person who is not seeking to use the Partner Network for a legitimate web search, e.g., has been paid or otherwise
motivated to click) clicks on a Listing and accesses the destination site.
1.2 “Listing” means a profile of a website that includes the display URL, a title, text that describes the site to which the listing
links, and a tracking URL (if applicable). Listings are displayed in Search Results.
(a) “Paid Listing” means a listing for which a third party has paid to include in Search Results.
(b) “Unpaid Listing” means a listing that is included in Search Results at no direct cost to any third-party.
1.3 “LookSmart Directory” means a collection of Listings that are stored in a LookSmart proprietary database after human
identification and input.
1.4 “LookSmart Web Index” means a collection of Listings that are stored in a LookSmart proprietary database after machine
based identification and input.
1.5 “Partner Network” means Searchfeed.com and all web properties that are owned, operated by, or affiliated with Partner.
1.6 “Reviewed Web Sites” means a LookSmart product that contains both Paid and Unpaid Listings retrieved from the LookSmart
Directory. The amount that an advertiser pays to LookSmart has no influence on the ordering of results of Reviewed Web Sites.
1.7 “Search Results” means Listings provided by LookSmart to Partner hereunder during the Term hereof. The Search Results will
include Sponsored Search, Reviewed Web Sites, and/or WebSearch as indicated in Section 5.
Confidential
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1.8 “Sponsored Search” means a LookSmart product that returns results containing only Paid Listings. The amount that an
advertiser pays to LookSmart influences (among other factors) the position in which the advertiser’s listing appears in Sponsored Search.
1.9 “WebSearch” means that LookSmart returns results that may contain both Paid and Unpaid listings retrieved from the
LookSmart Web Index and the amount that an advertiser pays to LookSmart has no influence on the ordering of results.
2. LICENSE
2.1 License . Subject to the terms, limitations and conditions herein, LookSmart hereby grants to Partner a non-exclusive license
during the Term hereof to publicly display the Search Results in electronic form on search results pages on the Partner Network.
2.2 Limitations on License . The license granted above is limited by the following restrictions: (i) except as expressly permitted
herein, Partner will not display, use, reproduce, modify, sell, resell, rent, license, sublicense, transfer, assign or redistribute in any way the
Search Results, except as expressly permitted herein; (ii) Partner will not modify, add to, edit or delete the URLs, titles or reviews contained
within any Search Results without LookSmart’s prior written approval; (iii) Partner will not attempt to alter, reverse engineer, decompile,
disassemble or otherwise attempt to derive the Search Results or any of LookSmart’s customer lists, databases, computer programs, patents,
copyrights, other proprietary rights (including the methodology related to the creation and compilation of the Search Results) or any other
information furnished to Partner by LookSmart; (iv) except as expressly permitted herein, Partner will not display, sublicense or syndicate the
Search Results on or to any third party or web site outside of the Partner Network unless it first obtains LookSmart’s written consent;
(v) Partner will use the tracking URLs associated with each individual Paid Listing provided by LookSmart, if any, for all Search Results
included on its search results pages (though Partner may use the display URLs for purposes of displaying the listing); (vi) Partner will not
syndicate or display any Search Results on any adult-oriented, obscene or illegal web sites; and (vii) Partner will not encourage, aid, abet,
authorize or permit any employee, affiliate, contractor, agent, representative or third party to do or attempt to do any of the foregoing.
3. PAYMENT TERMS.
3.1 Cost Per Click (CPC) . Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, for any given calendar month, LookSmart will pay Partner a
Cost Per Click for all valid Clicks generated by Partner based on LookSmart’s proprietary click tracking system. LookSmart agrees to pay
Partner *** per valid Click for the term of this Agreement.
3.2 Payment and Reporting . Within 30 days after the end of each calendar month during the Term, LookSmart will deliver
(a) payment pursuant to Section 3.1, (b) a report describing Clicks generated and amounts payable to Partner for such calendar month and
(c) LookSmart agrees to provide a designated account manager to Partner and to use commercially reasonable efforts to provide additional
reporting as requested by Partner on no less than a weekly basis. Such reporting will be provided to Partner in a timely fashion, subject to
LookSmart’s technical and business limitations.
3.3 Audit . Each party will maintain accurate records with respect to the calculation of all payments due under this Agreement. The
other party (the “ Examining Party ”) may, upon no less than 15 days prior written notice to the first party (the “ Audited Party ”) and no
more than once in any twelve month period, cause an independent auditor of nationally recognized standing to inspect the appropriate
Confidential
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records of the audited party reasonably related to the calculation of such payments during the Audited Party’s normal business hours. Such
examination will be undertaken in a manner reasonably calculated not to interfere with the Audited Party’s normal business operations. The
fees charged by such auditor in connection with the inspection will be paid by the Examining Party, unless the auditor discovers an
underpayment of greater than 10%, in which case the Audited Party will pay the reasonable fees of the auditor.
3.4 Invalid Clicks. LookSmart shall have no obligation to pay for clicks which are invalid as determined by its proprietary click
tracking system. Invalid clicks may come as a result of but are not limited to clicks (i) generated via automated crawlers, robots or click
generating scripts, (ii) that an advertiser receives and rejects, (iii) that come as a result of auto-spawning of browsers, automated re-redirects,
and clicks that are required for Users to navigate on the Partner Network, or (iv) that come as a result of any incentive such as cash, credits or
loyalty points. LookSmart reserves the right to require Partner to provide data files for daily Clicks that include, but are not limited to, date,
time, keyword, IP address and referring URL stored within Partner’s database. In the event that LookSmart determines that Partner has
delivered an unacceptable level of invalid clicks during the term of this Agreement, LookSmart may terminate this Agreement upon five
business days prior written notice to Partner.
4. PARTNER OBLIGATIONS.
4.1 Implementation of Search Results. Partner will query LookSmart’s servers for search queries on the Partner Network and will
implement and display Search Results provided by LookSmart as set forth on Exhibit A .
4.2 Attribution; Look and Feel. Partner may provide attribution on pages displaying Search Results. The size and location of such
attribution shall be at the parties’ mutual agreement. Other than as set forth herein, Partner shall control the look and feel of its search service.
5. LOOKSMART OBLIGATIONS.
5.1 Tracking and Serving . LookSmart will provide Sponsored Search results to Partner.
5.2 Service Levels/Technical Support . LookSmart will use commercially reasonable efforts to provide the Service Levels and
Technical Support in Exhibit B .
6. PUBLICITY.
Neither party will make any public statement, press release or other announcement relating to the terms or existence of this
Agreement without the prior written approval of the other, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, provided
that either party may make such disclosures as may be, in its reasonable opinion of counsel, advisable in order to comply with a subpoena or
other legal process or with applicable laws, regulations or securities exchange rules.
7. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OWNERSHIP.
7.1 Proprietary Rights of LookSmart . LookSmart will retain all right, title and interest in and to the Search Results, the related
databases and all associated intellectual property and proprietary rights worldwide (including, but not limited to, ownership of all copyrights,
trademarks, patents, derivative works, modifications, customer lists and information, algorithms, taxonomies, trade secrets and other
intellectual property rights therein).
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7.2 Proprietary Rights of Partner . Other than the Search Results, Partner will retain all right, title, and interest in and to the
Partner Network (including, but not limited to, ownership of all copyrights, trademarks, patents, derivative works, modifications, customer lists
and information, algorithms, taxonomies, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights therein).
8. TERM AND TERMINATION.
8.1 Term . The term of this Agreement (the “ Term ”) will begin on the Effective Date and will end *** . The Agreement will then
automatically renew for successive *** periods, unless either party gives written notice to the other party of its intention not to renew at least
60 days prior to the end of the then-current term or renewal term.
8.2 Termination . Either party may terminate this Agreement if the other party (i) materially breaches its obligations hereunder and
such breach remains uncured for thirty (30) days following delivery of written notice to the breaching party of the breach, or (ii) is subject to
voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy proceedings, insolvency, liquidation or otherwise substantially discontinues its business operations.
8.3 Effect of Termination. Termination of this Agreement by either party will not act as a waiver of any breach of this Agreement
and will not act as a release of either party hereto from any accrued liability (including payments as set forth in the following section) or
liability for breach of such party’s obligations under this Agreement. Within thirty (30) days following the expiration or termination of this
Agreement, each party will pay to the other party all sums, if any, due and owing as of the date of expiration or termination, net of any amounts
due from the other party as of such date. Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement for whatever reason, each party shall
immediately cease to use the other party’s trademarks, proprietary information, Search Results, intellectual property (including derivative
works or modifications thereof) and Confidential Information in any manner whatsoever, and shall destroy or return (at the option of the other
party), any such property, or materials representing the same to the other party, and provide the other party with an officer’s certificate attesting
to such return/destruction. For the avoidance of doubt, upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, the license granted hereunder shall
terminate and Partner and its agents shall immediately cease all use of the Search Results.
8.4 Survival . The provisions of sections 1 and 6-12 (inclusive) will survive any termination or expiration of this Agreement for a
period of three years.
9. CONFIDENTIALITY.
9.1 “ Confidential Information ” means information about the disclosing party’s (or its suppliers’) business, products,
technologies, strategies, customers, financial information, operations or activities that is proprietary and confidential, including without
limitation all business, financial, technical and other information disclosed by the disclosing party. Confidential Information will not include
information that the receiving party can establish (i) is in or enters the public domain without breach of this Agreement, (ii) the receiving party
lawfully receives from a third party without restriction on disclosure and without breach of a nondisclosure obligation or (iii) the receiving
party knew prior to receiving such information from the disclosing party.
Confidential
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9.2 Use of Confidential Information . Each party agrees (i) that it will not use or disclose to any third party or use any
Confidential Information disclosed to it by the other except as expressly permitted in this Agreement or as required by a court of law or
otherwise compelled to be disclosed pursuant to the legal process or existing laws or regulations, and (ii) that it will take all reasonable
measures to maintain the confidentiality of all Confidential Information of the other party in its possession or control, which will in no event be
less than the measures it uses to maintain the confidentiality of its own information of similar importance.
10. WARRANTY AND INDEMNITY.
10.1 LookSmart Warranty . LookSmart warrants that it owns, or has obtained the right to distribute and make available as
specified in this Agreement, the Search Results provided to Partner in connection with this Agreement. Except as specifically provided herein,
LookSmart does not guarantee or make any representations or warranties whatsoever (i) with respect to the completeness of any listings or
links or information accessed through such links or (ii) with respect to the content of the web sites accessed through the listings or links
provided hereunder. LOOKSMART DOES NOT WARRANT, REPRESENT OR GUARANTEE THAT THE USE OF ITS LISTINGS OR
LINKS, OR ANY OTHER SERVICES PROVIDED IN CONNECTION WITH OR IN ADDITION TO THE FOREGOING WILL BE
UNINTERRUPTED, UNDISRUPTED OR ERROR-FREE.
10.2 Indemnification . Each party will indemnify, defend and hold harmless Partner, its officers, directors and employees from any
and all third party claims, liability, damages and/or costs (including, but not limited to, attorneys fees) arising from the other party’s breach of
any warranty, representation or covenant in this Agreement. Each party’s obligation to indemnify is conditioned upon the other party providing
prompt notification of any and all such claims, unless the failure to notify does not materially and adversely affect the defense. The indemnified
party will reasonably cooperate with the indemnifying party in the defense and/or settlement thereof; provided that if any settlement requires an
affirmative obligation of, results in any ongoing liability to or prejudices or detrimentally impacts the indemnified party in a material manner,
then such settlement shall require the indemnified party’s written consent (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and the indemnified
party may have its own counsel in attendance at all proceedings and substantive negotiations relating to such claim at the indemnified party’s
sole cost and expense.
10.3 Disclaimer . EXCEPT AS SPECIFIED IN THIS AGREEMENT, NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY WARRANTY IN
CONNECTION WITH THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THIS AGREEMENT AND EACH PARTY HEREBY DISCLAIMS ANY AND ALL
IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR PURPOSE REGARDING SUCH SUBJECT MATTER.
11. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.
11.1 Exclusion of Damages . IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER FOR ANY SPECIAL,
INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, WHETHER BASED ON BREACH OF CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING
NEGLIGENCE) OR OTHERWISE, WHETHER OR NOT THAT PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH
DAMAGE.
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11.2 Total Liability . OTHER THAN AS A RESULT OF BREACH OF SECTION 2 OR PURSUANT TO THE
INDEMNIFICATION PROVISIONS HEREOF, IN NO EVENT WILL EITHER PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER FOR AN AMOUNT
IN EXCESS OF THE TOTAL AMOUNT PAID TO PARTNER HEREUNDER.
12. GENERAL.
12.1 Assignment . Neither party may assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, without the other party’s written consent (which
will not be unreasonably withheld), except that no such consent will be required in connection with a merger, reorganization or sale of all, or
substantially all, of such party’s assets to a third party.
12.2 Governing Law . This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California,
notwithstanding the actual state or country of residence or incorporation of the parties. The parties consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the
state or federal courts in the Northern District of California for all actions arising out of or related to this Agreement.
12.3 Notices . Any notice or other communication to be given hereunder will be in writing and will be (as elected by the Party
giving such notice): (i) personally delivered; (ii) transmitted by postage prepaid registered or certified mail, return receipt requested;
(iii) deposited prepaid with a nationally recognized overnight courier service; or (iv) sent by facsimile. Unless otherwise provided herein, all
notices will be deemed to have been duly given on: (a) the date of receipt (or if delivery is refused, the date of such refusal) if delivered
personally or by courier; (b) three (3) Business Days after the date of posting if transmitted by mail; or (c) if transmitted by facsimile, the date a
confirmation of transmission is received. Either Party may change its address for purposes hereof on not less than three (3) Business Days prior
notice to the other Party. Notices hereunder will be directed to, unless otherwise instructed by the receiving Party:
If to Partner :
Searchfeed.com
Attn: Bill Loss
245 US Highway 22 West
Suite 306
Bridgewater, NJ 08807
Phone: 908.722.9951 ext. 203
Fax: 908.722.9953
If to LookSmart :
625 Second Street
San Francisco, California 94107
Attn: Senior VP, Business Development
Fax: 415-348-7030
with a copy to:
625 Second Street
San Francisco, California 94107
Attn: Legal Department
Fax: 415-348-7034
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12.4 No Agency . The parties are independent contractors and will have no power or authority to assume or create any obligation or
responsibility on behalf of each other. This Agreement will not be construed to create or imply any partnership, agency or joint venture.
12.5 Force Majeure . Any delay in or failure of performance by either party under this Agreement will not be considered a breach
of this Agreement and will be excused to the extent caused by any occurrence beyond the reasonable control of such party including, but not
limited to, acts of God, power outages and governmental restrictions.
12.6 Severability . In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are held by to be unenforceable by a court or arbitrator,
the remaining portions of the Agreement will remain in full force and effect.
12.7 Entire Agreement . This Agreement is the complete and exclusive agreement between the parties with respect to the subject
matter hereof, superseding and terminating any prior agreements and communications (both written and oral) regarding such subject matter.
This Agreement may only be modified, or any rights under it waived, by a written document executed by both parties.
12.8 Independent Contractors . The parties are independent contractors and not co-venturers. Neither party shall be deemed to be
an employee, agent, or legal representative of the other party hereto for any purpose and neither party hereto shall have any right, power or
authority to create any obligation or responsibility on behalf of the other party hereto nor shall this be deemed an exclusive or fiduciary
relationship.
12.9 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be an original or faxed
copy and all of which together shall constitute one instrument.
LookSmart, Ltd.

SearchFeed.com

By:
/s/ Anthony Mamone
Name: Anthony Mamone
Title: VP, Sales & Marketing

/s/ W. K. Loss
By:
Name: William Loss
Title: President
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EXHIBIT A
IMPLEMENTATION
1.

Display of Search Results. In connection with each search by a user on the Partner Network, Partner will query LookSmart’s servers via
a live data feed. If any Search Results are returned by LookSmart’s servers in response to such query, such Search Results will be
displayed on search results pages on the Partner Network. All Search Results must be displayed in the order received from LookSmart’s
servers and prominently on such Search Results pages. Partner will not display any CPC or price-related data that would allow users to
determine the price paid by advertisers in connection with paid listings. Partner will cooperate with LookSmart to allow LookSmart to
track clicks on Paid Listings displayed on the Partner Networks, including the use of redirects, tracking URLs or other methods as
reasonably requested by LookSmart. Other than as set forth herein, Partner shall be solely and exclusively responsible for the design,
development, operation and maintenance of the Partner Network and for all advertising, sponsorship or other use of the media contained
therein.

2.

Partner Display Ordering. Partner represents that it displays and will continue to display Search Results on the Partner Network based
on the Cost Per Click assigned to the listings in the Search Results (CPC Sorted). In the event that Partner decides to change the method
by which it determines the order of its Search Results, Partner will provide to LookSmart thirty (30) days written notice of such change.
Partner will make reasonable effort to work with LookSmart to display LookSmart’s Sponsored Search Results in the new display order
at positions comparable to the CPC sorted implementation.

3.

Position in Search Results. In implementations where Partner determines the display and presentation of Search Results on the CPC
paid to Partner, Partner agrees to display LookSmart’s Sponsored Search Results within Partner’s search results in the position based on
the agreed upon CPC. Based on the agreed upon CPC, Partner shall display LookSmart’s Sponsored Search Results above (i) any other
listing with the same CPC and (ii) the listing with the next lowest CPC available for display in Partner’s search results. Partner will in no
way manipulate Partner’s search results or any other listing CPCs to display LookSmart’s Sponsored Search in a position below listings
with CPCs lower than those agreed upon and thus assigned to LookSmart’s Sponsored Search. In the event duplicate listings are returned
as a result of a direct advertiser of Partner, Sponsored Search Results provided by Looksmart shall not be displayed.

4.

Top Bid Pricing . In implementations where Partner determines the display and presentation of Search Results on the CPC paid to
Partner, Partner agrees to provide LookSmart with access to its standard account interface from which LookSmart can determine bid
prices (CPC paid to partner) of the top 5 listings for individual and specific keywords. At Partner’s discretion, Partner may make
available an API or other data interface that provides such data.

5.

Query Source Identification. Partner must provide LookSmart with the IP, User Agent and HTTP referrer for every query for which
Partner requests a LookSmart Search Result.

6.

Traffic Volume and Increases . Partner will provide LookSmart with 3 days written notice before launching with new affiliates or traffic
sources that will, in Partner’s reasonable opinion, increase the number of Searches by the lesser of 50% over then-current levels or
500,000 queries per day. LookSmart will have no obligation to pay for Referrals for which a timely notice is not provided under this
section.

7.

Blocking Distribution . LookSmart may request that Partner block distribution of Search Results to a specified list of sources (sites
and/or IP addresses) deemed questionable by LookSmart. LookSmart may update the list from time to time, in its sole discretion. All
sources contained within the list must be blocked from distribution by Partner as soon as practicable after, but in any event within 5
business days from, receipt of notice from LookSmart. LookSmart shall have no obligation to pay Partner for Clicks delivered to Paid
Listings from these sources, five business days beyond notice.
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EXHIBIT B
Service Level Agreement — LookSmart Data Feed (VAL)
Below is the level of service to be supplied by LookSmart in connection with LookSmart’s provision of Search Results (the “
Service ”). The Service to be provided to Partner shall consist of a real-time data feed of Search Results as defined in the Agreement.
Partner Implementation Guide . Following the execution of this Agreement, LookSmart will provide Partner with a partner
implementation guide to assist in the process of implementing the technical aspects of the Service. The parties will use commercially
reasonable efforts to abide by the procedures and steps set forth in the guide.
Service Integration Technical Assistance . During the Term, LookSmart agrees to provide a designated technical account
manager during normal business hours (8am – 5pm Pacific Time) to Partner to assist in the effective integration of the Service onto the
Partner’s site. In no event will such support exceed ten (10) hours per month, and all such support will be provided during business hours. The
parties agree that the Service is provided in a standard format and is well documented. LookSmart will not provide technical assistance relating
to on-site server configuration or programming.
Service Response Time. The load time for a non-page-load query (i.e. where the data returned does not include the formatted
page), as measured round-trip from the time Partner servers send a search request to LookSmart to the time of Partner’s servers’ receipt of a
completed set of search result(s) will be less than 375 milliseconds at least 98% of the time, as measured daily, weekly, and monthly, from
domestic locations.
Service Uptime. The Service will be available 24 hours/day, 7 days/week. Scheduled downtime will be communicated to partners
with 5 business days notice. Service is guaranteed to be up 99.5% of the time as measured weekly and 99.8% of the time as measured monthly,
excluding scheduled downtime. Should LookSmart determine that a reconfiguration of the Service is required, such as major software version
changes, changes in hosting facilities or other network reconfiguration; LookSmart will provide Partner with 30-day notice of such change, and
will work in good faith to minimize any Service outages.
Quality Criteria . LookSmart will use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the Service shall not contain more than 3%
Inactive Links out of any random sample of 10,000+ queries. “Inactive Links” shall be defined as any link provide by the Service which, when
clicked, does not result in the user receiving a web page within 60 seconds at least 3 out of 5 times in any 1 week period.
TECHNICAL SUPPORT
To ensure that problems with the Service are identified, addressed and resolved in a timely manner, the following framework shall
be followed for reporting problems, communicating progress on troubleshooting activities, resolving problems, and, if necessary, escalating the
level of attention placed on such problems. This framework proposes a three-category approach to technical support for dealing with problems.
The first type deals with general technical support such as consultation regarding technical specification interpretation and understanding the
process, the second with changes in the Service, and the third addresses problem reporting and resolution associated with the Service.
Type 1: General Technical Support
This category of service provides consultation regarding the proper interpretation of format specifications and data, as well as support on how
the Service works, the quality or content of Service results for specific queries or how Partners might integrate the Service into their Web site
(s). It does not address any desired changes in the basic service parameters. Within 3 business days of the Execution Date of this Agreement,
Partner will be provided with the names of both a business development account manager and a technical account manager who will provide
this type of service during normal business hours, up to 10 hours per month, for the first three months. Partner should expect a response to
Type 1 issues within 2 business days, after which they should be escalated as detailed below.
Type 2: Changes
Requests for changes in the Service should be directed to the business development account manager who will be assigned to Partner within 3
days of the Execution Date of this Agreement. Partner should expect a response to Type 2 issues within 2 business days, after which they
should be escalated as detailed below.
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Type 3: Problem Reporting and Resolution
Problems reaching LookSmart servers (e.g., major networking issues, Service outage, etc.) should be addressed with the LookSmart
Technical Operations team as detailed below. ALL OTHER requests (e.g. product issues) should be treated as Type 1 or Type 2 issues.
1.

Contact the System Technical Support team by:
•
•
•

Email:
techsupport@looksmart.net
Email Page: techsupport-pager@looksmart.net
Please remember to include an area code with the callback telephone number

If after 15 minutes, a callback is not received…
2.

Contact the Director of Production Operations by use of the following contact information:
•
•
•
•

Dean Cookson
Work/Day:
415-348-7615
Email:
dcookson@looksmart.net
Email Page: dcookson-pager@looksmart.net

If after 15 minutes, a callback was not received…
3.

Contact the Vice President of Technical Operations by use of the following contact information:
•
•
•
•

Michael Grubb
Work/Day:
415-348-7633
Email:
mg@looksmart.net
Email Page:
mg-pager@looksmart.net

Escalation Procedures
If Partner does not receive timely responses (according to the timetables outlined above) issues should be escalated to any of the
following individuals:
Person to Contact

Title

Role

Phone

Email

David Hoare

Technical Account
Manager

Business
Development

415 348 7611 (o)

dhoare@looksmart.net

David Kopp

VP

Product
Management

415-348-7688 (o)

dkopp@looksmart.net

Partner Points of Contact
Communication of issues from LookSmart to Partner should be directed to the following individuals:
Person to Contact

Role

Phone

Daniil Fishteyn

CTO

Title

Technical issues

908.722-9951 (o)

Daniil.Fishteyn@Searchfeed.com

Rachel Lyubovitzky

Biz Dev

Partner relations

908.722.9951 (o)

Rachel.Lyubovitzky@Searchfeed.com
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AMENDMENT TO THE LICENSE AGREEMENT
BETWEEN LOOKSMART, LTD. AND SEARCHFEED.COM
This Amendment (the “ Amendment ”) to the License Agreement dated as of November 7, 2003 (the “ Agreement ”) is entered into
and effective as of March 29, 2004 (the “ Effective Date ”) by and between and LookSmart, Ltd., a Delaware corporation, with offices at 625
Second Street, San Francisco, CA (“ LookSmart ”) and SearchFeed.com, a New Jersey corporation, with offices at 245 US Highway 22 West,
Suite 306, Bridgewater, NJ 08807 (“ Partner ”).
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the parties agree that during the term of this
Amendment, the Agreement will be amended as follows:
1.

Section 3.1. Section 3.1 is hereby deleted and replaced with the following:
3.1 Cost Per Click (CPC) . Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, LookSmart will pay Partner for each valid Click generated by
Partner an amount equal to the net bid price for the relevant search term at the time of query, as determined by LookSmart’s Dynamic
Pricing feed. In no event will the price per valid Click be less than ***. Partner agrees to query the Dynamic Pricing feed only for the
specific terms determined by LookSmart in its sole discretion.

2. Term and Termination . The term of this Amendment shall be *** days from the Effective Date. Either party may terminate this Amendment
upon twenty-four (24) hours written notice for any or no reason. Upon any termination of this Amendment, the Agreement will continue in
effect without the changes set forth herein.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the date set forth above. In the event of any conflict
between the terms hereof and the terms of the Agreement, the terms hereof shall govern. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts,
each of which may be an original or fax copy, and all of which together shall form one instrument.
LOOKSMART, LTD.

SEARCHFEED.COM

By: /s/ Boris Shimanovsky
Name: Boris Shimanovsky
Title: V.P. of Partner Dev.

By: /s/ William K. Loss
Name: William K. Loss
Title: Pres.

Material in the exhibit marked with a “***” has been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO THE LICENSE AGREEMENT
BETWEEN LOOKSMART, LTD. AND SEARCHFEED.COM
This Amendment No. 2 (the “ Amendment ”) to the License Agreement dated as of November 7, 2003 (the “ Agreement ”) is
entered into and effective as of March 21, 2005 (the “ Effective Date ”) by and between and LookSmart, Ltd., a Delaware corporation, with
offices at 625 Second Street, San Francisco, CA (“ LookSmart ”) and SearchFeed.com, a New Jersey corporation, with offices at 245 US
Highway 22 West, Suite 306, Bridgewater, NJ 08807 (“ Partner ”).
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the parties agree that during the Term, the
Agreement will be amended as follows:
1.

Section 3.1. Effective for all purposes as of February 1, 2005, Section 3.1 is hereby deleted and replaced with the following:

3.1 Cost Per Click (CPC) . Subject to the terms and conditions hereof, for any given calendar month, LookSmart will pay Partner a *** for all
valid Clicks generated by Partner, as recorded by LookSmart’s proprietary click tracking system. For each Click, the share of revenue paid to
Partner will be equal to ***, less a month-end adjustment for credit card fraud, advertising complaints or similar items, provided LookSmart
will use reasonable efforts to provide Searchfeed with notice of such advertising complaints or similar items as promptly as practicable after the
end of the applicable calendar month (such notice will not contain any individually identifiable information for advertisers, but will include
generic and/or aggregated information as to the calendar month in question). LookSmart will determine the CPC bid and include it in the live
feed sent in response to such query. LookSmart will have sole discretion to decide the CPC bid for each search term, and such CPC bid may
change frequently. Partner may use the CPC bid included in the live feed for its internal purposes, but the parties agree that there shall be no
disclosure or other indication on Partner’s or Partner’s Network web pages that identifies any advertisement containing any publicly displayed
CPC bid as originating from or associated with LookSmart.
2.

Section 8.1 . As of the Effective Date, Section 8.1 shall be deleted and replaced with the following:
The Term of this Agreement shall end on ***. The Term of the Agreement will then automatically renew for successive ***
periods, unless either party gives written notice to the other party of its intention not to renew at least 60 days prior to the
end of the then-current term or renewal Term.

3.

Exhibit A . Exhibit A to the Agreement will be amended by deleting it in its entirety and replacing it with the Exhibit A attached
hereto.

4.

Miscellaneous . This Amendment sets forth the entire understanding and agreement of the parties, and supersedes any and all prior
contemporaneous oral or written agreements or understandings between the parties as to the subject matter of this Amendment.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the date set forth above. In the event of any conflict
between the terms hereof and the terms of the Agreement, the terms hereof shall govern. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts,
each of which may be an original or fax copy, and all of which together shall form one instrument.
Material in the exhibit marked with a “***” has been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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LOOKSMART, LTD.

SEARCHFEED.COM

By:
/s/ Bryan Everett
Name: Bryan Everett
Title: SVP, PLBU

By:
/s/ Rachel Lyubovitzky
Name: Rachel Lyubovitzky
Title: Director of Operations
2

EXHIBIT A
IMPLEMENTATION
1.

Display of Search Results. In connection with any given search by a user on the Partner Network, Partner may query LookSmart’s
servers via a live data feed, and if any Search Results are returned by LookSmart’s servers in response to such query, such Search Results
may be displayed on search results pages on the Partner Network. All Search Results must be displayed in the order received from
LookSmart’s servers on a Cost Per Click basis on such Search Results pages, provided that additional search results received from third
parties may be displayed above, below or in between LookSmart’s Search Results. Partner will not display any CPC or price-related data
that would allow users to determine the price paid by advertisers in connection with paid listings. Partner will cooperate with LookSmart
to allow LookSmart to track clicks on Paid Listings displayed on the Partner Networks, including the use of redirects, tracking URLs or
such other methods as may mutually agreed upon by the parties, when requested by LookSmart. Other than as set forth herein, Partner
shall be solely and exclusively responsible for the design, development, operation and maintenance of the Partner Network and for all
advertising, sponsorship or other use of the media contained therein.

2.

Partner Display Ordering. Partner represents that it displays and will continue to display Search Results on the Partner Network based
on the Cost Per Click assigned to the listings in the Search Results (CPC Sorted). In the event that Partner decides to change the method
by which it determines the order of its Search Results, Partner will provide to LookSmart thirty (30) days written notice of such change.
Partner will make reasonable effort to work with LookSmart to display LookSmart’s Sponsored Search Results in the new display order
at positions comparable to the CPC sorted implementation.

3.

Position in Search Results. In implementations where Partner determines the display and presentation of Search Results on the CPC
paid to Partner, Partner agrees to display LookSmart’s Sponsored Search Results within Partner’s search results in the position based on
the agreed upon CPC. Based on the agreed upon CPC, Partner shall display LookSmart’s Sponsored Search Results above the listing with
the next lowest CPC available for display in Partner’s search results. Partner will in no way manipulate Partner’s search results or any
other listing CPCs to display LookSmart’s Sponsored Search in a position below listings with CPCs lower than those agreed upon and
thus assigned to LookSmart’s Sponsored Search. In the event duplicate listings are returned as a result of a direct advertiser of Partner,
Sponsored Search Results provided by LookSmart shall not be displayed.

4.

Top Bid Pricing . In implementations where Partner determines the display and presentation of Search Results on the CPC paid to
Partner, Partner agrees to provide LookSmart with access to its standard account interface from which LookSmart can determine bid
prices (CPC paid to partner) of the top 5 listings for individual and specific keywords. At Partner’s discretion, Partner may make
available an API or other data interface that provides such data.

5.

Query Source Identification. Partner must provide LookSmart with the IP, User Agent and HTTP referrer for every query for which
Partner requests a LookSmart Search Result.

6.

Traffic Volume and Increases . Partner will provide LookSmart with 3 days written notice before launching with new affiliates or traffic
sources that will, in Partner’s reasonable opinion, increase the number of Searches by the lesser of 50% over then-current levels or
500,000 queries per day. LookSmart will have no obligation to pay for Referrals for which a timely notice is not provided under this
section.

7.

Blocking Distribution . LookSmart may request that Partner block distribution of Search Results to a specified list of sources (sites
and/or IP addresses) deemed questionable by LookSmart. LookSmart
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may update the list from time to time, in its sole discretion. All sources contained within the list must be blocked from distribution by
Partner as soon as practicable after, but in any event within 5 business days from, receipt of notice from LookSmart. LookSmart shall
have no obligation to pay Partner for Clicks delivered to Paid Listings from these sources, five business days beyond notice.
8.

Non - solicitation. Neither party shall utilize any proprietary information gained through the performance of its obligations hereunder to
solicit any advertiser, affiliate or distribution partner of the other party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may engage in
independent business development or customer acquisition efforts not using proprietary information gained under this Agreement,
including without limitation, (1) answering queries regarding business relationships initiated by third party customers, affiliates or
distribution partners, and (2) using publicly available information to initiate business relationships with third party customers, affiliates or
distributions partners.

Confidential
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Exhibit 10.41
SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE
This Separation Agreement and General Release (“Agreement”) is made and entered into by and between Erik Riegler (hereinafter
referred to as “Employee”) and LookSmart, Ltd., its successors, subsidiaries, related companies, parent company and affiliates (hereinafter
sometimes referred to as the “Company”).
The Company believes and the Employee agrees that it is authorized to terminate the Employee’s employment without notice or
cause;
The Company has notified the Employee that his/her employment with the Company will terminate on or about August 19, 2005
(“Separation Date”);
This Agreement may not be executed by the Employee and will not be accepted by LookSmart until AFTER the Employee’s
Separation Date, but within the period provided for in this Agreement;
The Employee acknowledges that the Employee has received all compensation due and owing, including all wages, commissions,
bonuses and compensation for accrued and unused vacation;
The Employee does not have pending against the Company or any Employee, agent, official, or director of the Company any claim,
charge, or action in or with any federal, state, or local court or administrative agency; and
The Employee wishes to receive the separation pay provided hereunder, receipt of which is expressly conditioned upon execution of
this Release.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained in this document, the payment of the
separation pay hereunder, which shall be paid by the Company to the Employee in accordance with this Agreement, and in an effort to avoid
unnecessary lawsuits, it is hereby agreed by and between the parties as follows:
FIRST : The Company will pay the Employee separation pay, totaling $77,000, less required withholdings and authorized
deductions, representing 22 weeks of Employee’s Base Salary, within 14 days of receipt of this signed Agreement, provided the Employee
returns all Company materials and equipment within five (5) days of Employee’s last day of work, and provided Employee signs and returns
this Agreement, AFTER the Employee’s Separation Date, but no later than 30 days of receipt of this Agreement or 10 days after Employee’s
Separation Date, whichever is later.
The Employee agrees that the foregoing payment constitutes the entire amount of monetary consideration provided to the Employee
under this Agreement and that the Employee will not seek any further compensation for any other claimed compensation, damage, costs, or
attorneys’ fees in connection with the matters encompassed in this Agreement.

SECOND: This Agreement and compliance with this Agreement shall not be construed as an admission by the Company of any
liability whatsoever, or as an admission by the Company of any violation of the rights of Employee or any person, violation of any order, law,
statute, duty, or contract whatsoever against the Employee or any person. The Company specifically disclaims any liability to Employee or any
other person for any alleged violation of the rights of the Employee or any person, or for any alleged violation of any order, law, statute, duty,
or contract on the part of the Company, its Employees or agents or related companies or their Employees or agents.
THIRD: The Employee represents that the Employee has not filed any complaints, claims, or actions against the Company, its
officers, agents, directors, supervisors, Employees, or representatives with any state, federal, or local agency or court and that the Employee
will not do so at any time hereafter (either on his/her account or as a member of a class) and that if any agency or court assumes jurisdiction of
any complaint, claim, or action (including, without limitation, any class action) against the Company or its affiliated companies or any of their
officers, agents, directors, supervisors, employees, or representatives on behalf of the Employee, the Employee will direct that agency or court
to withdraw from or dismiss with prejudice the matter as to any claim made by him/her on his/her behalf.
FOURTH: If requested by the Company, and upon reasonable notice, the Employee will act or appear as a witness, deponent or in
any other reasonable capacity to assist the Company or any affiliate in any civil or criminal action not arising from this Agreement.
FIFTH: The Employee agrees that all rights under section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California are waived by the
Employee. Section 1542 provides as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his favor at the time of executing
the release, which if known by him must have materially affected his settlement with the debtor.
SIXTH: Notwithstanding the provisions of section 1542 of the Civil Code of the State of California, or any other similar statute
under the law of the state of employment or residence, the Employee hereby irrevocably and unconditionally releases and forever discharges
the Company and each and all of its officers, agents, directors, supervisors, Employees, representatives, and their successors and assigns and all
persons acting by, through, under, or in concert with any of them from any and all charges, complaints, claims, and liabilities of any kind or
nature whatsoever, known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected (hereinafter referred to as “claim” or “claims”) which the Employee at any
time heretofore had or claimed to have or which the Employee may have or claim to have regarding events that have occurred as of the date of
this Agreement, including, without limitation, any and all claims related or in any manner incidental to the Employee’s employment with the
Company or the termination therefrom or notice with respect to termination therefrom under the WARN Act (29 U.S.C. § 2101, et seq. ) or
otherwise.
SEVENTH: The parties understand the word “claims” to include all actions, claims, and grievances, whether actual or potential,
known or unknown, and specifically but not
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exclusively all claims arising out of the Employee’s employment with the Company and the Employee’s termination. All such claims
(including related attorneys’ fees and costs) are forever barred by this Agreement regardless of whether those claims are based on any alleged
breach of a duty arising in a statute, contract, or tort; any alleged unlawful act, including, without limitation, discrimination or harassment of
any kind (including, without limitation: race, sex, national origin, marital status, religion, sexual orientation or preference, veteran’s preference,
disability); notice under the WARN Act, any other claim or cause of action; and regardless of the forum in which it might be brought. For the
avoidance of doubt, “claims” does not include any matters related to the Company’s indemnification obligations pursuant to Delaware law, its
bylaws or any indemnification agreement between the Company and Employee, which are unaffected by this Separation Agreement.
By signing this Separation Agreement and General Release, the Employee agrees that he/she will not pursue any claim covered by
this Release. If the Employee breaks this promise, the Employee agrees to pay the Company’s costs and expenses (including reasonable
attorneys’ fees) related to the defense of any claims. The Employee should also understand that nothing in this release prevents the Employee
from filing a charge or complaint with, or from participating in an investigation or proceeding conducted by the EEOC or any state or local
agency which can act as a referral agency for the EEOC.
EIGHTH: The parties acknowledge that they do not rely and have not relied upon any representation or statement made by any of
the parties other than those specifically stated in this written Agreement.
NINTH: This Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto and upon their heirs, administrators, representatives, executors,
successors, and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of said parties and each of them and to their heirs, administrators, representatives,
executors, successors and assigns. The Employee expressly warrants that the Employee has not transferred to any person or entity any rights,
causes of action, or claims released in this Agreement.
TENTH: Should any provision of this Agreement be declared or be determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be wholly
or partially illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, the legality, validity, and enforceability of the remaining parts, terms, or provisions shall not be
affected thereby, and said illegal, unenforceable, or invalid part, term, or provision shall be deemed not to be a part of this Agreement.
ELEVENTH: This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties hereto and fully supersedes any and all prior
agreements or understandings, written or oral, between the parties hereto pertaining to the subject matter hereof.
TWELFTH: The provisions of this Agreement will be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California. This
Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the plain meaning of its terms and not strictly for or against any of the parties hereto.
THIRTEENTH : Finally, the Employee agrees to comply with his/her Employment Confidentiality and Arbitration Agreement
which remains in effect and is
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incorporated herein by reference and agrees to maintain the confidentiality of all confidential information, knowledge, or data relating to
LookSmart, or any affiliated company, which was obtained by the Employee during the Employee’s employment with LookSmart, and agrees
not to communicate or divulge any such information, knowledge or data to anyone or utilize such information, knowledge or data without the
prior written consent of the Company. The Employee agrees to return to the Company all Company property in his/her possession or under
his/her control in accordance with this Agreement.
EMPLOYEE

LOOKSMART, LTD.

/s/ Erik Riegler
Erik Riegler

By: /s/ W. B. Lonergan
Bill Lonergan
CFO

Date: 8/20/05

Date: 8/22/05
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Exhibit 21.1
List of Subsidiaries
Name of Entity

Jurisdiction

BTLookSmart Pty Ltd.
LookSmart (Barbados), Inc.
LookSmart Germany GmbH
LookSmart Holdings (Delaware), Ltd.
LookSmart International Pty Ltd.
LookSmart Netherlands B.V.
LookSmart United Kingdom Ltd.
WiseNut, Inc.

Australia
Barbados
Germany
Delaware
Australia
Netherlands
United Kingdom
Delaware

EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Nos. 33-129987, 333-120295, 333112070, 333-100228, 333-86436, 333-65986, 333-51408, 333-45634, 333-89653) and Form S-3 No. 333-121327 of LookSmart, Ltd. of our
report dated March 14, 2006 relating to the financial statements, financial statement schedule, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.
/ S / P RICEWATERHOUSE C OOPERS LLP
San Francisco, California
March 14, 2006

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, David B. Hills, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of LookSmart, Ltd.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2006
/ S / D AVID B. H ILLS
David B. Hills
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, John Simonelli, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of LookSmart, Ltd.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2006
/ S / J OHN S IMONELLI
John Simonelli
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, David B. Hills, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report of LookSmart, Ltd. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly
presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of LookSmart, Ltd.
Date: March 14, 2006
By:

/s/ D AVID B. H ILLS

Name: David B. Hills
Title: Chief Executive Officer
I, John Simonelli, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Annual Report of LookSmart, Ltd. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly
presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of LookSmart, Ltd.
Date: March 14, 2006
By:

/s/ J OHN S IMONELLI

Name: J OHN S IMONELLI
Title: C HIEF F INANCIAL O FFICER

